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Friday, November 20, 2015
--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.

The Board sits today on the matter of an application by PowerStream Inc. filed with the Ontario Energy Board on May 22nd, 2015 under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, seeking approval for changes to the rates that PowerStream charges for electricity distribution, to be effective January 1, 2016 and for each following year through to December 31st, 2020.

Procedural Order No. 1 established a process that included a technical and settlement conference and established the -- and the establishment of an issues list.

On September 16th, 2015, as directed by Procedural Order No. 1, OEB Staff filed a letter with the OEB which attached a proposed agreed issues list.  OEB Staff's letter noted that there was no agreement on whether consideration of the announced merger between PowerStream, Enersource, Hydro One Mississauga Inc., Horizon Utilities Inc., and Hydro One Brampton Networks Inc. should be included in the issues list.

On September 18th, 2015 the OEB issued Procedural Order No. 3, which stated that the OEB would consider this as a threshold question.  The OEB requested submissions from the parties on what, if any, consideration should be given by the OEB to the announced merger as part of its review of the application.  The OEB received submissions from PowerStream, OEB Staff, and all intervenors.

On October 6th, 2015 the OEB issued a decision on the threshold question, determining that the announced merger would not be included on the issues list.  The OEB established a new schedule for a settlement conference, as well as a schedule for an oral hearing if no settlement was obtained.  Today is the first day of that hearing.

My name is Ken Quesnelle.  I'll be presiding on the hearing -- over this hearing today, and joining me on the Panel is Board Member Ellen Fry.

I will now take appearances.
Appearances:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, sir.  Good morning, Ms. Fry.  James Sidlofsky, counsel to PowerStream.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Sidlofsky.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel.  My name is Mark Rubenstein, and with me is my colleague, Jay Shepherd.  We're counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rubenstein.  Good morning.

MS. GIRVAN:  Good morning.  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Ms. Girvan.

MS. GRICE:  Good morning.  Shelley Grice, representing AMPCO.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Ms. Grice.

Okay.  That's what we have?  Ms. Helt?

MS. HELT:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Maureen Helt, OEB Staff counsel, and with me I also have Martin Davies, case manager.  I've also asked to be -- to put in an appearance for Michael Janigan, acting for VECC, and Tom Brett acting for BOMA.  They will both be attending later on today or tomorrow or Monday.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.

Okay.  Mr. Sidlofsky, any preliminary matters that you're aware of?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No preliminary matters, sir.  I have some introductory comments, and then I would propose to move into examination-in-chief of panel 1.

Mr. Davies has kindly sent around a hearing schedule for today, and I think he set aside a half hour for that.  I don't expect I'll be that long.  So I think we'll certainly keep to the schedule and make sure that the panel is available for cross-examination.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Thank you very much.

People received the schedule?  Everybody's okay with that?  Okay.  Thank you.

You would like the panel affirmed at this time, Mr. Sidlofsky?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That would be fine, sir, either now or after my comments, but now would be fine.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah.  Why don't we do that.
POWERSTREAM - PANEL 1, GENERAL ISSUES

Tom  Barrett,

Colin Macdonald,

Carolyn Young,

Heather Clark,

Stanton Sheogobind; Affirmed.

MS. FRY:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky...
Opening Statement by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir, and thank you, Ms. Fry.

Good morning.  PowerStream is the electricity distributor for more than 375,000 customers in 11 communities located immediately north of Toronto and in central Ontario.  PowerStream is owned by the cities of Barrie, Markham, and Vaughan and serves those communities and several others, including Alliston, Aurora, Beeton, Bradford-West Gwillimbury, Penetanguishene, Richmond Hill, Thornton, and Tottenham.  PowerStream is Ontario's second-largest municipally-owned electricity distributor.

PowerStream is before you today seeking approval of a five-year custom incentive regulation plan for the period of January 1st, 2016 to December 31st, 2020.

A bit of background.  In a letter dated April 14th, 2014 PowerStream advised the Board of two things, first, that it planned to file its custom IR application for the 2016 to 2020 period with a planned filing date of April 30th, 2015, and second, that it was initiating a customer engagement process related to the application that would span the remainder of 2014, would help shape the application, and would include intervenors and direct contact with customers.

Board Staff were invited to participate in the customer engagement process, and PowerStream appreciates Board Staff's attendance at and observation of those focus groups.

In a December 2nd, 2014 follow-up letter to the Board, PowerStream advised that it planned to meet with intervenors with the objective of negotiating a settlement prior to filing the application.  That process began with an overview of its application provided to intervenors at the Board's offices on December 15th, 2014.  It continued into early May with a rate proposal, responses to almost 500 intervenor interrogatories, a facilitated technical conference, and responses to 40 undertakings given at that technical conference and facilitated confidential settlement discussions.

That process in advance of the filing of PowerStream's formal application with the Board resulted in the creation of an evidentiary record of approximately 4,000 pages.

Despite the efforts of the parties no settlement was achieved during that pre-filing process.  However, the extensive record created during that process has formed the basis for the custom IR application filed by PowerStream on May 22nd of this year.

The relief requested in the application as filed was consistent with the relief set out in the pre-filing rate proposal as adjusted by a small number of corrections that arose out of the pre-filing interrogatories and the pre-filing technical conference.

Once the application was filed the Board established a process for further interrogatories, a transcribed technical conference, and a settlement conference.  On August 21st, in conjunction with its interrogatory responses, PowerStream filed an update to its application as a result of information obtained in preparing the responses.  That update can be found at section A to PowerStream's interrogatory responses from August of this year.

The details of the update are set out in that section, but in short, PowerStream made the following changes:  PowerStream updated its percentage factor for the working capital allowance calculation to the Board's default of 7.5 percent.  It updated incremental costs related to moving residential customers to monthly billing in 2017 in accordance with the Board's new policy on moving residential customers to monthly billing.  And it updated its revenue requirement.

PowerStream also updated cost allocation using the Board's updated cost allocation model.  It updated load forecasts and customer forecasts using the latest economic forecast in the regression models and it updated billing determinants and revised its forecasted cost of power.

It updated the forecast of cost of power for updated load forecasts and the latest Board-regulated price plan report dated April 20th, 2015.  It updated its retail transmission service rates based on the OEB-approved rate order dated April 23rd, 2015 for Hydro One distribution sub-transmission rates. 

It updated its application for the Board's new policy regarding fixed monthly charges for residential customers, and the transition to 100 percent fixed monthly charges, and it updated its bill impacts. 

According to PowerStream's update, the changes reduced the proposed revenue requirements by 4.9 million in 2016, .8 million in 2017, .4 million in each of 2018 and 2019, and .3 million in 2020 from the levels set out in the May application.

The resulting revenue requirements are $187 million, 210.3 million, 221.4 million, 232 million, and 241.6 million in each of 2016 to 2020, subject to annual adjustments proposed in PowerStream's application.

PowerStream submits its evidence in this proceeding is revised through the August 21st update, provides support for the utility's application, including its planned capital and OM&A expenditures for the 2016 to 2020 IR term and load forecast. 

To assist the Board and the parties, PowerStream is presenting three witness panels.  The first will deal with general issues, including issues relating to the RRFE and issues relating to OM&A and other revenues.  Specifically, those are issues numbers 1.1, 1.2, 2.1 to 2.4, 2.6, 2.7, 3.1 and 3.3 to 3.8. 

The second panel will deal with issues related to capital, specifically issue numbers 2.5 and 3.2.  And finally, the third panel will deal with rate design issues and specifically issues numbers 4.1, 4.2, 4.5, 4.6, 5.2 and 5.3. 

The identities of the panel members have been provided to the Board and intervenors, and PowerStream has attempted to ensure the Board and intervenors have access to key staff members in each of those areas. 

These witnesses have all been directly involved in the preparation of the application and, for a number of them, this hearing is their first appearance before the Board as members of a witness panel. 

As a final note -- and as you, Mr. Quesnelle, touched on in your introductory comments -- as the Board is aware as PowerStream has acknowledged, a consolidation of PowerStream, Enersource Hydro Mississauga, Horizon Utilities and Hydro One Brampton Networks was announced in April of this year.  No consolidation has yet taken place. 

The parties did not agree on whether consideration of the announced merger should be included on the issues list. And as you pointed out, sir, the Board determined that it would consider that as a threshold question. 

It invited submissions and, following those submissions from Board Staff, the intervenors, and PowerStream, the Board issued its decision in Procedural Order No. 5, in which it determined the cost impacts of a potential merger are not relevant to its determination in this proceeding. 

The witnesses will be prepared to answer questions on matters within the scope of this proceeding.  And with those remarks, I will call on PowerStream's panel. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky, thank you.  I believe we have on the schedule today Mr. Rubinstein or Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, there is no direct evidence?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  There is.  Those were just my introductory comments.  I do have a brief examination-in-chief.  But I thank my friend for reminding me of that.  I guess I do. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I can do the direct, if you want. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle.  As I mentioned, I do have brief evidence-in-chief.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Sidlofsky:

Panel, you've now been affirmed.  I would ask you to state your names and spell them for the record.  Perhaps starting with you, Mr. Barrett. 

MR. BARRETT:  Tom Barrett. 

MR. MACDONALD:  Colin Macdonald.

MS. YOUNG:  Carolyn Young.

MS. CLARK:  Heather Clark.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Stanton Sheogobind.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Perhaps I can start with you, Ms. Young.  I understand -- sorry, one procedural matter, sir. 

It would probably be helpful to have the package of CVs marked as an exhibit.  Those were delivered to the Board by Mr. Macdonald with his cover letter earlier this week. 

MS. HELT:  We can mark the CVs of the witnesses for panel one of PowerStream as Exhibit K1.1.  
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CVs of PowerStream witness panel members

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.  Perhaps I can start with you, Ms. Young. 

As I was saying, I understand you're the senior vice-president finance for PowerStream, and you've been with the utility for six years.

MS. YOUNG:  That's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Prior to that, nine years in various finance-related roles with Barrie Hydro, most recently, I believe, as comptroller with Barrie Hydro before the merger with PowerStream.

MS. YOUNG:  Yes. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You hold a business management degree from Ryerson, and you are designated as a chartered professional accountant, and I believe you also have a certified internal audit designation.

MS. YOUNG:  That's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  What is your area of responsibility in this application, Ms. Young?

MS. YOUNG:  I have overall responsibility for the OM&A and cost of capital portion of this application. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Moving on to you, Ms. Clark, director of corporate finance and reporting for PowerStream?

MS. CLARK:  That's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  With the utility for five years.

MS. CLARK:  That's right. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Before that, I understand you were with KPMG in offices in Toronto and Australia.

MS. CLARK:  That's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And most recently, as manager of advisory services for KPMG's Toronto office.

MS. CLARK:  That's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Bachelor of commerce from McMaster, and also certified as a chartered professional accountant.

MS. CLARK:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And what is your area of responsibility in this application?

MS. CLARK:  I'm responsible for the detailed OM&A and other revenue sections. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you. Mr. Barrett, manager of rate applications for PowerStream, with the utility for nine years?

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And prior to that, you were with Aurora Hydro as the chief financial officer there. 

MR. BARRETT:  Correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And prior to that, senior consultant in financial systems with Deloitte. I understand you have over 35 years of experience in accounting.

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Bachelor of commerce from the University of Toronto, and I believe you are also certified as a chartered professional accountant.

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Could you tell the Board what you're responsible for in the application?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I'm responsible for the evidence related to productivity, benchmarking, depreciation, taxes and rate design. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Mr. Sheogobind, Director of lines for PowerStream.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:   For the past three years?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you were with Fortis Ontario for eight years before that as manager of transmission and distribution operations?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You hold a bachelor of electrical engineering from Carleton, and I understand you are also certified as a professional engineer.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Your responsibility in the application, sir? 

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I'm responsible for evidence pertaining to maintenance of the PowerStream distribution system. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  And finally, Mr. Macdonald; senior vice-president regulatory affairs and customer service for PowerStream.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I believe you've also been with the utility for nine years.

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And twenty-five years before that with Etobicoke Hydro and Toronto Hydro, and I believe that most recently as Toronto Hydro's manager of corporate planning, correct?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you have a bachelor's degree in electrical engineering and management from McMaster, and you are also certified as a professional engineer in Ontario.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, sir, your area of responsibility? 

MR. MACDONALD:  I have the overall responsibility for the rate application. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  And was the evidence prepared by you or your supervision, panel? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, it was. 

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, it was. 

MS. CLARK:  Yes. 

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And do you adopt it as your own evidence in this proceeding? 

MR. BARRETT:  I do.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes. 

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.

MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes. 

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you adopt PowerStream's responses to Board Staff and intervenor interrogatories and technical conference questions in this proceeding as your evidence? 

MR. MACDONALD:  Perhaps I can answer that for the panel, Mr. Sidlofsky. 

As has been mentioned, we filed our application on May 22nd of this year and at the conclusion of IR responses on August 21st, we provided an update to our revenue requirement, and Mr. Sidlofsky explained what was in that update. 

So that's –- I just want to be clear that's the most recent information, most recent update.  I would like to add that through the IR process and through undertakings, we did do a number of scenarios and different analyses at the request of intervenors.  Those were in response to questions, and in only very limited cases would they have affected our revenue requirement.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Macdonald.  I understand that you would like to make some -- a few comments about this application?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, I would like to make just a few very brief comments.

First, PowerStream is proposing a custom IR plan for the years 2016 to '20, and in doing so we have followed as best we can and closely the Board's Renewed Regulatory Framework for Electricity.

Our proposal is to establish rates for 2016 and have updates for 2017 to '20, which I'm sure we will discuss further in this hearing how that would work.

Secondly, we have filed a distribution system plan in keeping with Chapter 5 of the filing requirements and includes, of course, all of our capital plans for the years 2016 to '20.

I just want to note that we chose to do a custom IR application.  The RRFE provides three choices for distributors.  It seemed to us that the custom IR was ideally suited to PowerStream, given our ongoing capital needs over the plan period, and actually beyond the plan period.

In our DSP we talk about in great detail the situation we're in in terms of the state of our distribution system, and we have a number of important programs that we need to do to continue reliability.

Again, just as examples, we have a pole replacement program to replace deteriorated poles, and we also have a multi-year program to replace deteriorating underground cables.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, has PowerStream used the Board's filing requirements for distribution and transmission applications in preparing this application?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, certainly we've followed, as I mentioned, Chapter 5 for the distribution system plan, which is the prescribed requirement.  Although there are no other general filing requirements for custom IR, we did follow the Chapter 2 filing requirements very closely, and to help all the parties, we completed all the appendices that are included in the Chapter 2 filing requirements.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And in preparing the application did you consider bill impacts, sir?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.  Bill impacts are a very important part of our planning process and our rate application process, and just to highlight, for residential customers in 2016 the proposed rate increase for residential customers -- and that would be a typical customer, following the Board's guidance of the 800 kilowatt hours per month -- the average increase is 14.8 percent, and for the years 2017 to '20 the increase averages 2.4 percent.

And just to talk about that first-year increase a little further, 14.8 percent -- I'm going to switch to dollars.  That makes it a bit more real.  So that 14.8 percent in 2016 equals or is $4.11 per month increased distribution rates.

And I just want to break that number, $4.11, into three pieces, which may be helpful.  $3.13 of that relates to rate base additions because of capital spending in IRM periods of 2014 and '15, so those are brought forward to rate base in 2016.

So the majority of the $4.11 is for that -- maybe not the best name -- we've called it IRM lag, catching up when you rebase the first time.  And of the remainder of the $4.11, 42 cents per month is for incremental capital needs, and 19 cents is for incremental operating OM&A needs.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And so just to be clear, when you mention the 14.8 percent increase, was that on the distribution component or total bill?

MR. MACDONALD:  The numbers that I just went through are on the distribution part of the bill.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  And the -- Mr. Macdonald, you're familiar with the Ontario Clean Energy Benefit, I assume?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And since the removal of that benefit will be taking place as of the end of this year, I take it that still factors into the 2016 bill increase.  Have you considered any steps to mitigate any bill impacts resulting from that?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, we have.  So in that -- in -- as shown in our evidence, we have very rigorous planning processes for both OM&A and capital, so the answer to that question is we've worked very hard to only include the costs that we really feel we need to to maintain reliability, service quality, and customer service.  So we've been quite strict in the costs that we put forward in our forecast.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And sir, have you considered the Board's outcomes-based approach under the Renewed Regulatory Framework for Electricity in preparing this application?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, we have, and again, just to quickly highlight three areas.  With respect to productivity requirements, although we stated previously we feel that we're in early days in our journey to be more productive, we have included productivity improvements in our rate plan period of 2016 to '20.

Secondly, we've addressed benchmarking.  We have provided evidence using the Board's PEG model in our application and shown where we are and where we think we will be over the planned period.

And lastly, we have done an extensive customer engagement process to support the distribution system plan.  That involved outreach to customers, discussions with intervenors, focus groups, a workbook on our website.  So it was very extensive, and we received a lot of feedback from customers.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm going to turn to you for a moment, Ms. Young.  Can you -- do you have any comments on your approach to OM&A in this application?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, I do.  So we have a very detailed budget process that involves what we call both a top-down and a bottom-up approach.  The top-down process challenges departments to try to achieve certain targets, and those are developed by the executive management.  And the bottom-up was led by the finance and the HR department, and what we did there is a detailed budget billed for all departments for all costs for each year of the application.

The 2016 to 2020 period costs increased by 3.2 percent on average.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Ms. Young.

And finally over to you, Ms. Clark.  Could you identify the key cost drivers for OM&A in the application?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, so there are -- in our application there are three key cost drivers.  The first is in relation to our new customer information system.  The second is in relation to our vegetation management program, in relation to system-hardening, storm-hardening.  And the third is in relation to monthly billing, which starts in 2017 as required by the Board.

We've considered these extraordinary items due to the significant incremental increase in relation to OM&A.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Ms. Clark.

Mr. Quesnelle, those are my questions, and panel 1 is now available for cross-examination.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Shepherd?  Carry on with your cross.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I don't think I know everybody on the panel.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I'm counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  The real counsel is Mr. Rubenstein, who will be here for the rest of the time, but I'm just doing this one part.  I'm going to ask you some questions about the general issues, which I understand is your responsibility, including compliance with RRFE and also your M&A strategy.  And I'm aware of the threshold decision, and I won't step on that.

I have a compendium of materials, and I wonder if I could have that marked, Mr. Chairman?

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  I believe the panel has a copy of two compendia, actually, on the dais.  One is cross-examination compendium of the School Energy Coalition, panel 1 general, and if we can mark this as Exhibit K1.2.  
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF THE SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION, PANEL 1 GENERAL.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Chairman, everything in this material is on the record with a few exceptions, and those few exceptions were provided to my friends on Wednesday, I think, or maybe in the early a.m. of Thursday.  And I think that it's all information that they already had. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to start with -- if you take a look at page 2 of our materials, and our materials are numbered at the bottom right.  Those are the page numbers I'll be referring to.  Some of the internal documents on this have different page numbers, but I'll refer consistently to the numbering of the compendium. 

And this, I guess, this document is your document, Mr. Macdonald? 

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So just before I go into it, what does SMT and SLT stand for? 

MR. MACDONALD:  SMT stands for senior management team.  So SLT stands for senior leadership team.  The senior leadership team is the vice-president level, and the SMT, senior management team, is the -- we have a director level below that.  So that's what those acronyms describe. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the SLT is the 30 executives, and the SMT is the next level, the management level -- or not all the management level, but some of it? 

MR. MACDONALD:  No.  In our evidence, we show 30 executives are at the top level in the spreadsheet.  So those would be -- in that group of 30, there are the CEO, the EVPs or the C suite, and then there would be the SLT and SMT.

So those 30 people, maybe saying it a bit simpler, are the director and above, right up to the CEO.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's good, thank you.  I wonder if you can go to page 4.  This document is dated May 29, 2013, but I'm looking at page 4, and the document we have is dated April 9th. 

I assume that's just an artifact of when it was printed?  What I mean is this is not a new version of this; this is identical to what was tabled on May 29, 2013, right? 

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.  I think some staff, when you print a document, it puts the date code in the bottom.  So the date of this presentation, which I would have given, is May 29, 2013. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this has not been changed since May 29, 2013? 

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, this actual document has not been changed.  The thinking may have changed, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to get into that. 

MR. MACDONALD:  The document is -- this is the document from that date. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have -- you were originally scheduled to rebase in 2017, and you decided to come in a year early.  And I take it that the reason for that was not any part of your M&A strategy.  This was actually because you needed more capital money, you felt? 

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, no, I wouldn't say it exactly that way. 

Actually, maybe it's too fine a point.  But you're correct that we rebased in 2013.  So we were on third generation IRM for three years, and we would rebase in 2017 normally.

But I've never thought as custom IR as early rebasing.  The RRFE gives distributors three choices, three routes to take.  My understanding reading the RRFE is if you take the custom IR path, we could have filed, I believe -- this was in spring of 2014, from memory. 

So maybe it is too fine a point, but we've never considered this application early rebasing.  This is PowerStream's custom IR five-year proposal. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking why did you come in earlier than you were scheduled to come in.  Obviously, you could have just stayed on the current schedule.  So you wanted more money, right? 

MR. MACDONALD:  The main reason that we decided to come in with a custom IR application was -- you're right in what you said about capital needs.  But we look –- I mean, it's in our evidence.  We do a five-year plan which we update regularly. 

And after 2013 rebasing, our returns were starting to decline already in '14, and looking even lower in 2015.  So we -- the RRFE does contemplate, you know, equitable financial performance as one of the outcomes.  So the main driver of coming in with custom IR was concern about our declining returns, ROE.

 However, you're correct, Mr. Shepherd, that those were largely -- the decrease was largely driven by the need for capital. 

 MR. SHEPHERD:  This wasn't because your load was declining, right?  Your need was because you were spending more money, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  The need to spend capital to reinforce the power system, yes, was driving down our return.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when I said the purpose of coming in early was you wanted more money, that's correct, right?  You wanted more money? 

MR. MACDONALD:  No, I would never have said that in our company.  That's not how we characterize -- we talk about power distribution system, and reliability and customer service.  We would never characterize it as going to try to get more money.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you didn't want more money?  Or you did?  I'm looking at the application, and it looks like you're asking for more money.

MR. MACDONALD:  We are asking for a rate increase. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just ask another question about this page 4.  You comment that under IRM, and I quote, that it causes distributors to control costs.  I'm not sure; are you saying that as a bad thing, or a good thing? 

MR. MACDONALD:  A good thing. 

MR. SHEPHERD:   A good thing.  Then you have to ask the question, well, why doesn't that apply to you? 

MR. MACDONALD:  It does. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then why didn't you control costs instead of coming in for more money? 

MR. MACDONALD:  There wasn't a way to work under IRM and get -- have rates that would support our capital program and our DSP.  We're not -- we have significant capital needs and perhaps if they were lower, it might work.   But we have a lot of work to do on our power system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you go to page 6?  This is still in the same presentation, and I just have a couple of questions about this. 

You were originally planning to file in April of this year, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you filed about six weeks later than you planned; is that right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Three weeks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Three weeks?

MR. MACDONALD:  We were planning to file April 30th.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so three weeks later. 

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're still asking for January 1st rates, is that right? 

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  At this time, this is in 2013, you communicated to the executives in the organization that benchmarking and testing trends -- spending trends against appropriate benchmarks were an important part of a custom IR, didn't you? 

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I'm going to come back to what you did about it.  But was there any discussion at that time about how you should benchmark your past and future performance? 

MR. MACDONALD:  We were already doing some benchmarking at that time.  I don't think in May of 2013 we had -- we hadn't really put our minds to how that would look in our custom IR rate application.  I don't think our thinking was that advanced. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to come back to being a rate ready organization.  But it would appear to me that an organization like yours would be benchmarking all time, just as an operational matter of course.  Isn't that right? 

MR. MACDONALD:  As I mentioned, we do and we filed some of that information. 

For example, we participate with the Canadian Electrical Association, the CEA, and that shows us how we're doing in our reliability stats with other distributors across Canada.

So it is something we do and have done.  So I don't want to suggest that we don't do benchmarking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you recognized, even as far back as May 2013, that you had to expand your benchmarking as a regulatory requirement, is that right? 

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, at this date the RFP was quite new and we were digesting what it meant.  And, like, I said we were doing benchmarking, but I don't think we had really thought through what we might need to do in terms of econometric PEG type benchmarking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. MACDONALD:  It was early days.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And just before I leave that page, one of the risks you talk about is M&A.  Now, I -- and you talk about how to protect against things like that.  You're using risks in a broad sense of, some are good and some are bad, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So did you build into your application, the application the Board has, some -- something to protect against M&A impacts?

MR. MACDONALD:  No.  The forecasts in our application don't have any costs related to M&A.  I guess my thinking at this time was that M&A is -- if we had done a -- if we had gone to a plan and then in year 3 there was a merger, it would change things.  That's really all I was flagging at this time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  But you would then have to deal with that in the context of analyzing your merger, not in the context of analyzing your original rate application.

MR. MACDONALD:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I get that.

On page 7 you talk about being a rate-ready organization, and you're the only utility I have seen -- I've read a gazillion -- that's a technical term -- a gazillion rate applications from utilities.  I've never seen one that had as one of their key objectives being a rate-ready organization.  Can you tell me what that means?

MR. MACDONALD:  "Rate-ready" to us means that our staff and the senior staff and beyond understand the regulatory construct and the importance of it and how important it is to, when you do an application, do it right, have it supported right, have it defended properly.  It's really a -- it's really instilling a culture or a sense that this is really important and we have to get behind it and understand it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I guess there's two things about that.  And I'm a little bit suspicious, perhaps.  On the one hand you can say, well, being rate-ready means making sure that you have the information you need for the regulatory process.  It's an efficiency issue.  And the other is making sure that you keep in the back of your mind that people are going to look at what we're doing, so we'd better make sure the spin on everything is positive.

I take it that both are part of this; is that right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Not for us.  The first point, on data, you know, we have done work -- you learn as you go, and we -- with PowerStream I've done two previous cost-of-service applications, so you do learn that you need data, you need your accounts in order to -- you need to find things quickly and be able to work with them.  So we have made some changes of how we keep our records.  That is part of being -- a technical part of being rate-ready, but it's more -- to us it's more cultural, so it's evidenced by the having three panels here.  It's having some depth.  It's having staff that back up other staff.  It's just spreading the knowledge of rate applications and the importance of applications throughout the organization.

You know, in 2009 we wouldn't have had a director of lines on a panel.  You know, it's -- we're trying to engage as many people in the company as we can in this important function.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, well, see, this slide doesn't talk about any of that.  What it talks about is things like identifying productivity savings, and that sounds like spin.  Isn't it?  Isn't it -- isn't one of the things you're doing with being rate-ready is take a look at what you're doing and saying, how can we show the regulator that we're doing all the right things?  Isn't that true?

MR. MACDONALD:  No.  I did this presentation, and that was not my intention at all.  I was trying to educate our staff on what we'll need to do to be able to compile a custom IR rate application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what I'm trying to understand is, productivity is something you do operationally anyway, right, so why would regulatory needs have anything to do with identifying productivity savings?  Isn't that an operational thing?

MR. MACDONALD:  So perhaps I can give some context on that.  I understand your question.  So we do things to improve productivity.  We have a project management office.  We have all kinds of projects we're doing to improve productivity.

I think my point here -- and I've made many times talking to our staff -- is it's not good enough to do the project because it's better.  We have to be able to show the results, be able to quantify them in some way, so that was the point I was making here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is really about documentation, keeping a record.

MR. MACDONALD:  Partly, but to me that's also -- to me I'm using the word "culture" again.  It's a mindset.  So someone is doing a project or a team is doing a project, and it's great.  You do the project and you're done.  But you need to develop the mindset that you have to be able to show the benefits and prove the benefits.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you take a look at the next page, page 8 of our materials, you talk about what rate-ready OM&A is, and this is really all about explanations and justifications and things like that.  This is not -- this is about having a picture to paint for the regulator; isn't that right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, I agree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you could move to page 14 of our materials.  This is still in your presentation.  This is your budget timeline.

Now, I assume that because you were coming in with a custom IR you had to change your budget approach because you wouldn't normally do a budget out to 2020 at that time, right?

MS. YOUNG:  So we've always done a forecast or an outlook, and we've -- at times we were going five years and sometimes we go out, more recently, ten years.  So there was definitely a different process involved, although the time period was the same.  So instead of -- you know, we would have sort of inflationary increase that we would just include, so we do, say, a first year or two, and then the three years after would be simply an inflationary increase.

And in this particular application we went through every single year, and instead of just using an inflation factor we actually budgeted every single year in detail.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you -- in the past when you've done multi-year budgeting, the budgets you actually have to live with are the first year or maybe two in terms of what the executive approve or what your board of directors approve, but in this case, you're going to have to -- you're -- in 2013 you're going to do a budget for 2020.  You're going to have to live with it, right?

MS. YOUNG:  I would say when we -- we've always done a, what we call a five-year outlook, so those numbers are dynamic and they change, but you're right.  I mean, obviously in this five-year outlook we realize if we go in for a five-year rate submission we have to go within that envelope.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And now this -- what I see here on page 14, this all happened in 2013, right?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is from May when Mr. Macdonald gave his presentation to December when you get board of directors' approval for your custom IR five-year package.  Is that right?

MS. YOUNG:  Oh, sorry.  Yeah, sorry, just to clarify, that would be 2014.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, this is 2014?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, sorry, this is 2014, I apologize.  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were having a meeting in 2013 to say, "By the way, a year from now we're going to start this process"?

MS. YOUNG:  No, I think some of the dates might be -- I guess -- I think what happens is this is a presentation that gets brought over each year and modified, and there might be some reference errors in it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you're going to have to help me with this.

MS. YOUNG:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I heard Mr. Macdonald say that he gave this presentation in May 2013.

MS. YOUNG:  Yeah, I apologize.  Sorry, just to clarify, what happened was this presentation gets brought forward every year, and so it would have been 2014.  We would have done this last year.  That's correct, right?  2014.  We're in 2015.  So it would have started May of 2014.  So there was an error in the information.  It would have been started in May 2014.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when did you give this presentation, Mr. Macdonald?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, I'm being corrected.  I'm -- it looks like the cover page is wrong.  It was done in May of 2014.  When I see the slide, your page 14, that makes sense.  This was the process to kick off the budget that would underpin the custom IR rate application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm a little bit taken aback here.  You just testified under oath -- and I was very specific to say did you give this in May 2013.  Now you're saying no, it was a year later?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, it appears that's the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm going to ask you to -- it sounds like there is some uncertainty, and I don't want to be unfair to you.

I am going to ask you to undertake to go find the original presentation in your records, and see what the date is.  Can you do that?

MR. MACDONALD:  Certainly.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking J1.1. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO FIND THE ORIGINAL PRESENTATION IN YOUR RECORDS, AND SEE WHAT THE DATE IS

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason why this is important, and the reason I was asking about page 14 is if this happened in 2013, then I can understand in December of 2013 you get approval for a five-year budget, and then you go out and you talk to your customers.

But that means that you've already done your budget before you talk to your customers.  But on the other hand, it also means when you do a workbook and give them information, it's based on homework you've already done.

On the other hand, if you did it in 2014, I have to ask where did you get the information to give to the customers in the workbook, and how did you use the input to change, because I don't see any customer input on this list.

MR. MACDONALD:  So we were in the market with our customer engagement process at the same time as this -- actually before and during this time on your page 14.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then where did you get the information you provided to them in your workbooks and things?  You hadn't done your budget yet, so how were you giving them information?  You started talking to them in February 2014, right, the customers?

MR. MACDONALD:  This timeline is largely addressing the OM&A budget, and the customer engagement was supporting the DSP process, and I believe we had a capital forecast that was appropriate for talking to -- showing to customers and getting their feedback.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This says August 29th, you have a cut-off for your capital budget.  So that can't be true, is it?

MS. YOUNG:  I believe the cut-off is the programs are submitted at the end of August, and so basically everybody has to have their projects that they require in.  And then we start doing an assessment of which projects -- a prioritization of which projects get put in that envelope.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you want to go back to page 12, this says that your capital projects that go to your project management office have to be requested by August 29, 2014, right?

MS. YOUNG:  So there are two departments.  There is the asset investment type department, which deals with all capital programs.  And then there is the PMO, and the PMO only works with certain types of projects.

So there are two different areas, so that's -- so the PMO is the project management office, who only is involved in some of the projects that we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The big ones?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I come back to how did you have information to talk to your customers?  If you haven't even done your process yet, how did you have information?

June 30th is your date deadline for your initial OM&A stuff.

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't have the exact schedule for all the customer engagement milestones -- for example, focus groups with different customer classes.  But I believe those were done later in the year, and our workbook was certainly quite late in the year.

I remember we met with intervenors here in September to talk about our proposed workbook, and got some feedback. So I think we had sufficient data to inform the customers of our plans in those focus groups.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I would like to ask about -- if you take a look at page 15, this is the last page of your presentation, and so this is a budget.  You said you had a top down and a bottom up; this is the top down, right?

MS. YOUNG:  This is actually -- this is a target budget that we put forward from the previous year, basically.  So it's sort of before we've really done -- it's just a starting point, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How did you set a target if you had no information from any of your departments as yet about what they thought they needed to spend?

MS. YOUNG:  I think we did -- in this example, we would have done sort of an inflationary factor within it.  So this is just a preliminary -- a preliminary look at what we think those years might look like.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is not an inflationary factor at all, I'm sorry.  But take a look at your distribution revenue going up 33 million dollars in 2016.  That's not inflation.  Not here.

MS. YOUNG:   I guess I'm referring to some of the areas, some of the areas we might go into more detail.  So we would look to our regulatory group to give us some more specifics on the distribution revenue, if we have them.

But it is a starting point from the previous year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who developed this budget?

MS. YOUNG:  It's from the finance area so this is basically more historic than -- it's just this is -- we're starting the budget process.  We're just sort of getting an idea of what the numbers look like at a very high level, and making very general assumptions in it.  That's what this is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  I appreciate what you're saying, but I look at the net capital expenditure line, which has it peaking in 2016 and going down after that.  And I'm thinking this isn't like -- this isn't some trend line.  Somebody did some work, right?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, and I believe most of the work was from the previous year's budget.  So this is already a year old and based on assumptions from the year previous.

So that's why I said it's very preliminary.  It's just to give a very broad direction.  It's actually not really specifically part of our top down approach that we talked about.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is a different top down approach?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, there is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was there a different budget that you gave to the departments that was the top down budget?

MS. YOUNG:  No, we didn't give a top -- we gave direction; it's not specific numbers.

For instance, one of our top down type of things that we asked is because we knew in some of the -- with our union contracts and some of the labour area, we looked at the other expenses and tried to ask people to stick to a one percent increase over the three-year average in other expenses.

So that's sort of an example of a top down directive that we tried to incorporate in the budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the budget guidance you're talking about then is the guidance that -- if you go back to page 8, labour increases four percent, other expenses one percent.

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No more head count.  That's your guidance?  Was there other guidance, or is that it?

MS. YOUNG:  That mainly summarizes that, yes.  Those are sort of the direction that we gave people going --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Was there more, or is this it?

MS. YOUNG:  No, I think that's pretty much –- yes, that identifies the –

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you say top down, this is top down?  That's the entire extent of your top down budget?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.  We gave direction, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could go to page 16 of our materials.  I am moving into a new area now, and I just want to have a sense of how much you're asking for, asking this Board to approve.

And you've seen this spreadsheet before?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, we have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I did the adds on the previous page, page 15, and that says that for the period 2016 to 2020, you thought you would need one-billion-136.8-million dollars, so 136.8.

In February 2015 at the end of this process, you asked for one-billion-158.4.  So you went up by 22 million dollars, and I guess my question is -- I would have thought your budget process would be trying to cut back your spending rather than increase it.

MS. YOUNG:  So can you give me a little bit of direction?  So you're looking at -- are you looking at 2020?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm looking at the five years.  2016 to 2020, if you add the distribution revenues across plus the offsets, you get 1,136.8 in your target budget, and what you ask for in February was 1,158.4.  You see, it's in a box there for ease of reference.

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm asking the question, isn't your budget process supposed to try to get it down, not up?

MS. YOUNG:  I think as we'll go through in -- with the second group testimony, the capital did increase over what we had originally proposed in the budget.  Once we went through all the projects and were aware of all the work that needed to be done, the capital did change, and that's probably the main increase there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And then still on page 16, if you take a look at the next section, this is what you ask for from this Board in May, and you added another roughly $5 million.  That's just minor changes that happened during the pre-filing process, right?

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then during the interrogatory process, that dropped by about $6-and-a-half million, again because of various minor changes as you got better information, right?

MR. BARRETT:  I think the primary driver there was -- there's a couple factors, but -- that were somewhat offsetting.  There was the change in the working capital allowance percentage, was a big driver one way, and there was --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And how much was that --


MR. BARRETT:  -- cost that was -- that went the other way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And how much was the working capital change?

MR. BARRETT:  I think it was about 5 million a year --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Going to 7.5?  It was 5 million a year, yes, 10 million a year?  So --


MR. BARRETT:  I believe so, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- if we estimated that your revenue requirement should have gone down by about 30 for that -- is that about right?

MR. BARRETT:  For five years?  No, it would be 25,  I --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, you think it would be 25?  I wonder if you could undertake to provide that information?  It may actually be in the evidence, but if it isn't could you get the impact of the working capital change?

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly.  We can undertake do that.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.2, to provide the impact of the working capital change.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE THE IMPACT OF THE WORKING CAPITAL CHANGE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So aside from the working capital change, which really was driven by the Board making a decision, you actually increased your ask again after interrogatories by, give or take, another $23 million, right?  Or $20 million, let's say?

MR. BARRETT:  The two major things in that update were the adjustment for the working capital allowance and the other was the cost of monthly billing, the switch to monthly billing in 2017.  So those are the two major factors driving the change between the 111-63 -- the 1.163-billion and the 1.156.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, am I right that what you're -- the cumulative deficiency over the five years that you're currently asking for is around $275 million, right?  You see it there just above the 1156.  You see the deficiencies right from your revenue-requirement work forms?

MR. BARRETT:  Subject to check I accept that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I mean --


MR. BARRETT:  I don't usually -- we don't usually focus on the deficit, or the deficiency, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?

MR. BARRETT:  I usually focus on -- when doing calculations I'm focusing on what the revenue requirement is based on or based on the requirements in the evidence we provided.  I...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the 275 million is what you're -- is the increase that you're asking from this Board, isn't it?  You're asking the Board to give you an extra $275 million, right?

MR. BARRETT:  Okay.  Once again, I'm looking at this piece of paper.  I'm not seeing the 275 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  274,725.

MR. BARRETT:  Okay.  So that appears to be the difference between the current rates or what would be available at current rates and what we're proposing, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you are asking this Board to order a rate increase of $275 million over the next five years; isn't that right?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you don't focus on that?

MR. BARRETT:  I didn't focus on that one number.  We certainly focus on what the impact is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The number is not new to you, right?  You saw this spreadsheet weeks ago, right?

MR. BARRETT:  I have seen that number, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. BARRETT:  I did prepare the requirement, revenue-requirement work form from which these numbers are taken.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if you were just under fourth-generation IRM it would be a lot less, right?

MR. BARRETT:  That's not what we're submitting.  We're submitting a five-year custom IR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's not appropriate for this Board to consider how much more you're asking for than fourth-generation IRM?

MR. BARRETT:  That's not the nature of our application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so the Board is not allowed to look at anything else but your application; is that right?

MR. BARRETT:  I'm not suggesting that they're not allowed to look at that.  I'm just saying that's not our evidence.  I'm not really prepared to comment on something that's not our evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I'm giving you the opportunity, so you can refuse to take it if you want.  It's true, isn't it, that fourth-generation IRM would give you significantly less money than what you have proposed in this application.

MR. BARRETT:  I believe our evidence is clear that we have certain capital needs, we have certain operating needs, and that we filed a custom IR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is it reasonable to say that what you're asking for is in the neighbourhood of $200 million more than fourth-generation IRM?

MR. MACDONALD:  Mr. Barrett said, you know, we really can't comment on these last two chunks of this spreadsheet because we don't really know what was done here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you do know what was done, because it's been explained to you in detail, and you have the live spreadsheet.  Isn't that right?

MR. BARRETT:  We have the live spreadsheet, but we don't know what assumption -- you've made assumptions here that we have no evidence to support.  You've got a rebasing escalator of 6 percent that seems to be pulled out of the air.  I don't know what -- where you've gotten that number from.  We've presented a great deal of evidence on what we need to rebase in 2016, and you've pulled a number of 6 percent out of the air.  I don't know where you got that from.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess it's true, isn't it, that there is a whole lot of other utilities in the province that are living within fourth-generation IRM, and if you're saying we need more than they do, then you've got some explaining to do, right?  Fair?

MR. MACDONALD:  As Mr. Barrett said, we feel we provide evidence that supports a custom IR five-year rate plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We also have on this table an estimate of rates based on PEG, so looking at, what if your revenue requirement was tied to exactly predicted costs using the PEG model?  Have you had a chance to look at this?

MR. BARRETT:  This is a totally foreign concept to me.  I've never heard or seen this before.  I've looked at the RRFE.  This is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, no, sorry --


MR. BARRETT:  -- the assumptions on the basis of what you're doing here are certainly something totally new.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's not new, isn't it?  Again, you had it weeks ago, and you've talked about it at length; isn't that right?

MR. BARRETT:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't have this weeks ago?

MR. BARRETT:  I had this weeks ago.  I haven't talked about it at length.  You've made all kinds of assumptions here which I'm not privy to, and I don't know what you're doing and why you're doing it.  I'm not clear on that at all, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So although you have the spreadsheet and you have --


MR. BARRETT:  I have the spreadsheet.  I can see that you have some mechanics here.  I can see that you've drawn -- I can see where you've drawn some of these numbers, but the assumptions and the basis for this I have no inkling of.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe we could turn to page 17 of our materials.  And this is a bar chart showing your residential annual bill based on your rate orders for the last -- for the 16 years, the last ten plus the next five and the current year.

So have you had a chance to look at this?  Does this look correct to you?

MR. MACDONALD:  We received this very late.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I apologize for that.

MR. MACDONALD:  We would accept it, that it's correct for this discussion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The only thing I want to talk about here is this.  The -- and I'm going to ignore the drop from two-oh-five to 2006 because that sort of skews your numbers a bit, maybe a little unfairly.  But from 2006 to 2015 will you accept subject to check that your residential annual bill went up 1.38 percent per year on a compounded annual basis?

MR. MACDONALD:  So just to be clear, Mr. Shepherd, this is residential distribution rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MACDONALD:  For a year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MACDONALD:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  1.38 percent per year for nine years; is that right?

MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, can you repeat those dates, what you're --


MR. SHEPHERD:  From 2006 to 2015.

MR. MACDONALD:  So 2006 to '15 is what percentage?

MR. SHEPHERD:  1.38 percent per year for nine years.  I'm just asking if you will accept it subject to check.  You have the data behind this.  You can take a look if you want.

MR. MACDONALD:  For this discussion, that's fine, sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And will you accept, subject to check, that for the next five years, you're proposing an increase that averages 5.66 percent per year on a compound annual basis?  Does that sound about right to you?

MR. MACDONALD:  I haven't done that number, but I'll accept that for this discussion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's certainly a good deal higher than the past, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  It's higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then on the next page, you'll see the GS under 50 bill.  And again, will you accept, subject to check, that for the last nine years, the increase has been 0.62 percent per year, but you're now proposing the next five years to be 7.41 percent per year?

MR. MACDONALD:  So 2006 to '15.

MR. SHEPHERD:  0.62 percent?

MR. MACDONALD:  '15 to '20.

MR. SHEPHERD:  7.41 percent.  Look about right to you?

MR. MACDONALD:  I haven't done the analysis, but subject to check, we accept that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Similarly with the GS over 50 customers, you have an increase from 2006 to 2015 of 1.10 percent per year, but you are now proposing an increase of 8.15 percent per year.

Will you accept those, subject to check?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  The reason I wanted to go to these and I invite you, Mr. Macdonald, to -- you have the spreadsheet behind these, and I invite you to go take a look and see if there is anything wrong with it that you don't like; I know you got it late, and I apologize for that -- to make sure that the Board can be satisfied that this difference is real.

What I want to find out is have PowerStream's circumstances changed recently in some way that makes it suddenly necessary to have these large rate increases, when you didn't have them in the past?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, they've changed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What changed in your circumstances?

MR. MACDONALD:  We've really improved our asset planning process, asset condition assessment, other analyses that we do.  And that's the biggest driver, is we're learning that we have to systematically update and upgrade the power system to maintain –- just to maintain reliability, and that's driving capital dollars higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't know that before?

MR. MACDONALD:  No, not to the extent we do -- we do now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It sounds like you're saying that in the last nine years, you haven't really been running things properly, and now you've figured out how to do it right.

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't think that's fair.  I think it's more appropriate that we've improved the tools we use to do asset management, and we're finding things and getting a better understanding of our system.

Also, over this period of time, our system is ageing, as well.  So we have more and more subdivisions in the 30, 35, 40 year old status.  There are certain generations that our engineers can explain better that -- generations of cable that are very prone to failure.

So these increases are largely driven by our capital needs to maintain reliability, and we don't think we're good stewards of our power system unless we look after those problems.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, Mr. Macdonald, I think the real reason -- and I'm going to ask you whether this is true -- the real reason why you had such a good rate increase record over the last nine years is your M&A strategy; isn't that right?

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't know if it's fair to say it's the -- like the real or only reason.  We definitely have been able to drive out efficiencies through our mergers, the last one in 2009, and we're on the record with the results of those mergers.  That's a factor.  But I guess I'm looking at the flip side going forward.

The increases are largely driven by the understanding and realization that we have to do a lot to keep our power system reliable.  Actually, even at this spending level, as we've explained, we still fall behind as time goes on, because coming behind this is more plant that's getting old and that has to be upgraded.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you look at page 98 of our materials?  This is a presentation that somebody from your organization gave to -- I think it's Vaughan, but I could be wrong, that talks about your past merger savings.

And this looks to me like but for these merger savings, you would have had big rate increases for the last nine years.  I mean, this is just OM&A, but presumably capital is the same; isn't that right?

MR. MACDONALD:  I haven't done this analysis, but I just -- my reaction is that savings and OM&A have definitely been overtaken by increasing capital needs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you haven't saved on capital because of mergers?

MR. MACDONALD:  Generally not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because that's not what Navigant says.

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, I think the Barrie -- the most recent merger, the Barrie-PowerStream merger, for example, they were two distinct geographic areas.  So the buzz word is synergies, and it's hard to get capital synergies when you have discrete areas for capital, because you have stations, and plant, and poles and wires, in those different areas that need to be upgraded.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you turn to page 63 of our materials, please?  Are you familiar with this decision?

MR. MACDONALD:  I try to keep up with all the different happenings in different utilities and rate cases, and so I'm familiar with Hydro One.  This is distribution, I take it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is their custom IR application.  This is the decision that you used to assess whether your application was appropriate or not.

MR. MACDONALD:  Sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me ask -- have you read the decision?

MR. MACDONALD:  I have to admit I haven't read every page.  I remember looking through it, skimming it.  I'm familiar with it; let me put it that way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm a little taken aback.  This is the Board's leading decision on custom IR.  I would have thought you would be intimately familiar with it.

MR. MACDONALD:  I'm not intimately familiar with it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I want to start with page 65 -- and just before I do, Mr. Chairman, when would you like me to look for a time for a break?  The schedule says about 11:25, and normally the Board prefers around eleven.  So where would you like me to look for an appropriate time?

MR. QUESNELLE:  If something comes up in the next twenty minutes or so, Mr. Shepherd, I'd be fine with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I wonder if you can look at page 65 of our materials, Mr. Macdonald.  It says here:
"Hydro One chose to interpret the OEB's custom IR option, referred to in the RRFE report as custom index, to include custom cost of service.  The OEB does not accept this interpretation."

I'm going to go on to some of the details of that, but what you've applied for is custom cost of service, isn't it?


 MR. MACDONALD:  No.  We have a five-year rate plan that contemplates setting rates the first year, and having annual updates.  But it's also underpinned by the principles in RRFE of productivity and benchmarking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, we're going to come to productivity and benchmarking.  You don't have benchmarking in your evidence, but that's a whole different thing.

My question is, the money you're asking for is based on detailed budgets for each year; isn't that right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's cost of service for five years, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  We have a revenue requirement calculation for each of the five years, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Based on cost of service?

MR. MACDONALD:  Based on those principles, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, sorry.  I'm not going to let you get off this one.  For any of the years, are you asking for an amount in rates that is different from your forecast cost of service?  Because I'm going to ask you to show me, if you say you are.

MR. MACDONALD:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So every year you're asking for your cost of service, yes?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the Board says in this decision no, no, no, that's not what custom IR is.  Doesn't that mean you don't qualify for custom IR?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, I'm going to stop my friend there.  I'm not sure if Mr. Shepherd is asking Mr. Macdonald to interpret or give a legal position on the implications of the Hydro One decision to this application.

This Board has PowerStream's application before it.  Mr. Shepherd is free to argue later on that the Hydro One decision should have some bearing on the decision that this Panel makes on this application, but my suggestion is it's not appropriate to be asking Mr. Macdonald to interpret the Hydro One decision and apply that to his own application that's before the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  With the greatest respect, Mr. Chairman, in the direct evidence -- I wasn't even going to ask this question, but in direct evidence Mr. Macdonald made a point of going through and saying, here is how this complies with custom IR.  I'm now allowed to ask him, how does it comply with custom IR, given what the Board has said.

This is not a legal discussion.  This is a discussion of whether he comes within the Board's policy, and his direct evidence says he does.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry, this is a legal discussion, because my friend is asking Mr. Macdonald to interpret this decision.  Mr. Macdonald has said he falls within the RRFE.  That's a matter of argument, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky, Mr. Shepherd has posed the question in such a way that he has used the Hydro One decision and the Board's characterization, asked Mr. Macdonald for his characterization of what this application does, matching costs at every year to the revenues, and asking him how it complies with the RRFE, aligns with the RRFE -- I forget the exact word -- and that is something that Mr. Macdonald had mentioned that this application does.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I think that's a reasonable question.  What's not reasonable is asking Mr. Macdonald to interpret the Hydro One decision and consider it determinative of compliance with the RRFE.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think Mr. Shepherd -- the framing of it, Mr. Shepherd, if you want to take another run at that, I think you can get your answer without asking for an interpretation of --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking for an interpretation.  I'm asking whether this is custom cost of service or not.  The Board says it's not.  The Board says custom IR is not custom cost of service.  You've admitted what you've asked for is cost of service.  So how is that not disqualified?

MR. MACDONALD:  I'm just going to quote from the RRFE, page 18, under the custom IR, the first heading.  It says:

"In the custom IR method rates are set based on a five-year forecast of a distributor's revenue requirement and sales volumes."

That's what we did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you're saying then the Hydro One decision is wrong?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Nobody is saying anything about the Hydro One decision, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Macdonald is telling you that PowerStream's view is that it complies with the RRFE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Nobody is arguing here about the Hydro One decision.  That can be argued in argument later.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you look at the next page, 66 of our materials -- I think I'm destined to quote a number of your words back to you, Mr. Chair.  Take a look at the second complete sentence.  It says:

"Incentive rate setting differs from cost-of-service rate-setting in that it relies less on a utility's internal cost output and service quality to establish rates and more on benchmarks of cost output and service quality that are external to the utility revealing superior performance and encouraging best practice."

How do you do that in this application?  How do you comply with that requirement?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, we -- rather than use some external source for benchmarking, we use the Board's own benchmarking methodology, which is in the PEG report.  So we took the PEG model, and this is in our evidence, and we show the historical predicted cost and we also plotted out the predicted cost for the plan period.

So -- and that -- implicit in that model are all the other distributors in the province.  So I think we did a -- we effectively used benchmarking using the Board's own model and approach.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're relying on the PEG evidence, the PEG analysis, for your benchmarking; is that right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  I thought I was going to have a hard time getting you to say that.

Can you look at the next page?  One of the things that the -- I'm going to come back to benchmarking, but I just want to ask you your comment on the sentence at the top of page 67 that says that what you're supposed to be doing is "objectively determine productivity and efficiency adjustments such as stretch factors, include mimicking competitive market conditions".

How does your application mimic competitive market conditions?


MR. MACDONALD:  This is really asking me to interpret what the Board decided in the Hydro One case, and that's difficult for me to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Mimicking competitive market -- okay.  Forget that.  Let me ask you a question.  How does your application mimic competitive market conditions?

MR. MACDONALD:  As an example?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MACDONALD:  So an example would be when we make investments we tender them and we get best prices.  Is that what you're getting at?

MR. SHEPHERD:  How does that mimic competitive market conditions?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, the whole regulatory construct is intended to mimic competitive environment.  I guess I'm not following your questioning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were already doing that.  All utilities do that just as a matter of course?

MR. MACDONALD:  Sorry, I'm still not understanding your question, I'm sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In a competitive market you don't get to come and say, "My costs have gone up.  I want more money."  What you do is you say, "The price is out there.  We have to take that price and we have to manage within it."  That's how a competitive market works.  Your application is not like that, is it?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, we're -- I guess I don't understand the context of competition in this.  We're not competitive.  We're a monopoly.  The regulatory construct intends to makes us act as a proxy for competition.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But isn't the point of RRFE -- isn't the real point of RRFE to say you need to start being price-takers, you need to manage within a reasonable envelope, rather than just saying, "We want more money"?  Isn't that the whole point of it?

MR. MACDONALD:  I'm not sure that's the whole point of custom IR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, sorry, I was asking the whole point of RRFE.

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't think that's -- to me that's the single point of the RRFE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, that -- I think we have a substantial disagreement here, because certainly that's what I've heard members of the Board and the Chair say on numerous occasions.  And so I'm trying to understand, if you have a different view of what the point of it is, perhaps you could describe it to me.

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, we've taken -- we've read the RRFE many times, and our interpretation is what's in our evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you need more money you can come and ask for it?

MR. MACDONALD:  No, it has the elements of forecasts for five years.  It has the elements of benchmarking, productivity improvements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you take a look -- still on page 67, you see that what the Board talks about in terms of benchmarking is that you need to have a top-down perspective.  You see that under number 1?  And you need to measure your cost performance against other comparable utilities.  And I take it what you're saying is you do that through the PEG model, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  I would say sort of a -- we may benchmark discrete areas, as I mentioned earlier, like reliability of the power system, but I guess at the highest level we've used the PEG report for benchmarking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But -- so you don't have anything else that shows what your appropriate level of costs should be from a top-down approach.  You have nothing else other than the PEG information.

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, the only other thing we provided -- well -- was we provided a very simple, not econometric, but a simple comparison of our rates with others, and our rates are very low, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm not talking about rates right now.  I'm talking about costs.  Did you benchmark your costs to anybody other than through PEG?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yeah, in simple terms we can look at the Board's yearbook, but that data goes into the PEG model as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Take a look at page 68 of our materials.  This is the Board's comment that the -- Hydro One there was no total factor of productivity study, no capital cost benchmarking study, and no overall OM&A benchmarking study, and you have none of those either, do you?

MR. MACDONALD:  I'm not sure that the RRFE requires those things specifically.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not my question.  My question is do you have them.  Have you tabled them or not? 

MR. MACDONALD:  What we've tabled is -- we've used the Board's PEG model as our benchmarking evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was a yes or no question.  Have you table those three types of studies or not?  Yes or no?

MR. MACDONALD:  What are they again?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Total factor productivity, capital cost benchmarking, overall OM&A benchmarking. 

MS. YOUNG:  I guess holistically, we haven't had those reports, although there are components of comparisons and benchmarking done at an individual item type level.

I'm thinking of the OM&A side.  We do have studies and things that we look at whether it, whether it be, you know, tree trimming or things like that.  There are things that we look at in general in specific areas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a tree trimming benchmarking study?

MS. YOUNG:  I think benchmarking as in more conversations and, you know, understanding some of the cycles of the -- and discussing with the other utilities, that type of thing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's nice that you talk about it.  But right now, we're before the Ontario Energy Board and they need to see this stuff.  You haven't filed anything like that, have you? 

MR. BARRETT:  The evidence we filed shows that we look at the Ontario -- the OEB's yearbook of distributors, and that our OM&A cost is significantly lower than the average.  I believe there was an IR that we can turn up that also -- we were asked to remove Toronto Hydro, I believe, and Hydro One, and it still showed that our OM&A per customer was significantly lower than the average. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  And that is a direct comparison, and you shouldn't adjust for the fact that you're a large, fast-growing utility with a relatively new system?  You shouldn't adjust for that, right?

MR. BARRETT:  I'm sure there are many differences.  The benchmarking attempts to do that, and the PEG model, I understand, to some extent.

But I would take issue with the fact that we're fast growing utility as well, but --


MR. MACDONALD:  Actually, I take issue with both comments.  Our evidence shows we're not fast-growing, and as I've stated several times, we're not -- there is a perception, I guess, that we're new.  But we have lots of areas that are not.  We have lots of subdivisions and areas that are 35, 40 years old.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I'm going to go to a new area, if this is a good time to break. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  It is.  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  We will break until twenty-five after eleven.  Thank you. 
--- Recess taken at 11:06 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:27 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd, whenever you're ready.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I just wanted to let you know a time check.  My friend Ms. Girvan has agreed for a future draft pick to give me about a half an hour of her time, if that's okay with the Board, and so I may take you to lunch.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then my friend Mr. Rubenstein will start after lunch.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  And we're certainly flexible as to when lunch starts with a, you know --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if you could turn, witnesses, to page 46 of our materials.  This is F.Energy Probe.9, which talks about the PEG benchmarking, and this is what you were referring to earlier, Mr. Macdonald.  So you actually filed in your evidence the comparison to using the PEG model, and then you've updated it in this IR, right?  If you look on page 47 you have the update with your 2014 actuals in it.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I have that in front of me, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is your microphone on?

MR. BARRETT:  I believe so.  Is that better?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I'm just getting older.

And so I want to ask you some questions about this table on page 47.  This compares actual costs to predicted costs.  So what -- the PEG model predicts what your costs should be based on an econometric model and based on your business conditions and then you compare that to your actual costs calculated on a very specific basis to be comparable to the model, right?

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I went through this, and it looks to me like in 2010 your actual costs were about $16 million lower than the predicted costs or 7.4 percent; is that right?

MR. BARRETT:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in 2011 it was not quite as good, it was 14 million below predicted costs or 6.4 percent?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I mean, you did this analysis, right?

MR. BARRETT:  I haven't done the comparison that you're doing, no, I don't have that in front of me, so...  I'd get my --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  I mean, you filed this information, right?

MR. BARRETT:  Absolutely, yes.  We know what the trend looks like.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you also filed the percentages, didn't you?  In fact, they're on the Board's website, aren't they?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, they are, as part of the stretch factor is a three-year average that it does show the percentage, it shows --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BARRETT:  -- where you are and where you've been in cohort 3 and we predict to be in -- remain to be in cohort 3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2012 you show in your table actual costs being lower than predicted cost by $10 million.  I went to the Board's website for 2012, and it said that your actual costs were 1.2 percent higher than predicted costs.  Can you help me with that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I believe that we've compared this, and it's in the evidence that we've compared this on a -- we tried to deal with the issue with the fact that some of the data is under IFRS.  For us we adopted IFRS in 2012.  So our data for '10, '11 would be -- been reported in CGAAP, our data reported from 2012 onwards was reported to the Board under modified IFRS.

So we attempted to keep it consistent in CGAAP.  So on a CGAAP basis.  So based on the information that was developed for the PP&E adjustment for the transition to IFRS, we estimated what the -- what it would be on a CGAAP basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Board's numbers then, their comparison of your costs to predicted costs are wrong?

MR. BARRETT:  I didn't say that.  I just said we attempted to keep this on the basis of IF -- on CGAAP the same as the historic data.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's correct, isn't it, that in 2012 the Board says you're 1.2 percent over predicted cost, in 2013 3 percent, and in 2014 5.6 percent; isn't that right?

MR. BARRETT:  I would have to turn to the evidence here.  I believe we have a -- I have a chart in my notes here that was taken from the evidence, and I'll look at that and...

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just took these right from the Board's website.

MR. BARRETT:  That looks correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And yet in each of these cases you say that you're actually below predicted costs, right?

MR. BARRETT:  Up to and including 2014 on a CGAAP basis; that's correct.  On a -- so that the numbers are comparable, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so what you did is you adjusted your actuals?

MR. BARRETT:  So basically our difference of our numbers reported under CGAAP and modified IFRS is how much overhead is capitalized.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Uh-huh.

MR. BARRETT:  So, yes, when you shift money from capital into OM&A it does affect the results of the predicted cost model or the actual cost compared to the predicted cost model --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I asked a very specific question which you didn't answer, which is --


MR. BARRETT:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- what did you adjust, the actual or the predicted?

MR. BARRETT:  Oh, the actual.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So then I went to the Board's website for 2014 where you say the predicted costs are 234,087.  The Board's website says 229,948.  What's that about?  If you only adjusted actuals why is it different?

MR. BARRETT:  I believe that at the time this was prepared we did not have the 2014 actual, although I would have to check that.  I would have to undertake to check that out.  That is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you wouldn't -- I wasn't asking about actuals.  I was asking about predicted, right?  So predicted is just filling the numbers into the model, isn't it?

MR. BARRETT:  It's using in a form, though.  I would have to undertake to understand why there is difference.  My understanding is that we've used the model.  We've had it reviewed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So these numbers going forward then, the actuals, those are all CGAAP numbers?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, they've been adjusted.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So none of those are what you actually expect to spend?

MR. BARRETT:  They have the overhead that we would have capitalized under CGAAP, treated the same way as it was for 2010 and '11, and the same way for the historic data that's in the model, I might add, for most utilities from 2002 to 2012, because most utilities were not required and did not adopt IFRS prior to it, so that was the approach we took.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so this doesn't actually provide the Board with the PEG benchmarking information, it provides it with an adjusted set of PEG benchmarking information that you decided how to adjust, right?

MR. BARRETT:  We have adjusted the actual cost to be consistent with how they've been reported in the past; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And -- but you haven't adjusted the predicted costs.

MR. BARRETT:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then why do you think that's a fair characterization?  Everybody is on IFRS now, right?

MR. BARRETT:  Going forward they will be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So why do you have a CGAAP comparison, then?

MR. BARRETT:  I think for us when we were looking at other cases we know that other -- of at least one other utility that said they were unable to do this because of -- and I have to admit we still don't quite understand the interaction of the IF -- the switch to IFRS 2 between it, so we chose to keep it on a comparable basis to what had been done in the past and the historic.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, of course this is total cost, right?  This is not OM&A, it's total cost, right?

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.  It's an addition of OM&A costs that have some adjustments to them, and it's -- there is a fairly convoluted way that comes up with capital cost, very specific.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here's what I'm trying to understand.  I mean, you agree you have declining performance, right?

MR. BARRETT:  I agree that we're moving up within the cohort 3 band.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess, you know, you're 16 million below predicted costs in 2010.  It looks like in 2020 when you do it on a comparable basis you're going to be somewhere in the order of $40 million or maybe $35 million above predicted costs.  That's a $50 million split -- shift.  That doesn't sound good.

MR. BARRETT:  I don't believe that that is accurate, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, your numbers say it's a $40 million shift.  Don't they?

MR. BARRETT:  Okay.  So...

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm saying when you do it with the accounting that everybody else uses, including you, it's going to be a $50 million shift, right, roughly?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't believe that's true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, you have the numbers, right?  You have the MIFRS numbers for this model, right?

MR. BARRETT:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why don't we file them?

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly.

MS. HELT:  Right.  So Undertaking J1.3 will be to provide the table found on page 47 of the SEC compendium, table I predicted versus actual and forecasted costs, on a MIFRS basis.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE THE TABLE FOUND ON PAGE 47 OF THE SEC COMPENDIUM, TABLE I PREDICTED VERSUS ACTUAL AND FORECASTED COSTS, ON A MIFRS BASIS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason why I'm concerned about this is it looks like, even on your numbers, for the five years 2016 to 2020, you've got about 100 million dollars more in costs than your predicted costs.

So you already have to answer the question how is that okay.  You benchmark badly.  The only benchmarking evidence you have says you're 100 million too high. 

MR. BARRETT:  I believe we have answered that in our evidence.  I would be glad to take you there. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  You can't answer on the stand? 

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly.  I mean, we believe there are a lot of factors that are affecting this.  I think the key factor I would bring back is that the evidence shows, and we have done other analysis that show under a modified IFRS and after some initial disjoint, it starts to come back together again, but basically that we stay within the cohort 3 band, and there are other reasons in the model.  The model -- I believe we can turn up some of the evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying it's a problem with the model? 

MR. BARRETT:  I'm saying we have certain conditions.  I would suggest, number one, that the model is based on 2002 to 2012 data, and that the operating conditions that PowerStream and maybe the industry as a whole faces for 2016 to 2020 might be quite different. 

You've already heard us talk about the increase in sustainment spending.  We can certainly turn to that evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, no, that's not what I'm asking, though.  You see, Mr. Macdonald says you're relying on PEG to show that you benchmark. 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There's your benchmarking information, so your benchmarking information says -- even before we fix it for MIFRS, your benchmarking says that you're spending 100 million dollars too much in the next five years.

Why shouldn't the Board say, whoa, hang on a second, you can't have that money; stay within the benchmark? 

MR. BARRETT:  I think the benchmark -- if you look at the PEG report, the benchmarking has been established in ranges.  Similar to the cost allocation, it is a useful tool the Board uses.  It has certain limitations and it has a certain degree of accuracy. 

So my interpretation -- we were concerned.  We were concerned to see that we're moving that way, and we looked into it and we believe it's caused by business conditions, operating conditions, and there is quite an interesting co-relation if you look at the increase in sustainment spending over the period and the slowing of growth, and you see the impact on our relative costs, our actual costs and forecast costs relative to the model's predicted costs.

I believe that those are big factors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's exactly contrary to what Mr. Macdonald said.  Mr. Macdonald said the reason you need more money is because you need more capital, and the reason why you need more capital is because you have better asset management, so you realize that you need more.  That's what he said. 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, and I don't understand how that's contrary.  And I would concur with him that we are spending more money on sustainment spending.  I think that does drive up actual cost much more significantly without a corresponding increase in predicted costs out of this particular model, partly because of the limitations of the model, partly because of the perhaps the data and the changes in the industry from the data this is based on to what's happened.

 I think the Board has expended quite a bit of effort on asset management and having utilities focus on asset management.  Our transitional asset management began, I think, in 2007 with an asset condition assessment, and panel 2 can certainly go more into --


MR. SHEPHERD:  How is this responsive to my question? 

MR. BARRETT:  How's that?  I'm saying there are limitations to the model, and the Board recognizes that and we are concerned with our performance, and we have looked into it and we are feeling that that is what's causing it, this slowing of growth, this increase of sustainment spending.

I would turn you to the evidence, since that's what the purpose of the evidence is, right?  The purpose of the evidence is to answer these questions.  I be glad to turn you to the evidence and show you what the -- our sustainment spending for the period -- let me turn to the table because I want to get this correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How is that a change business conditions? 

MR. BARRETT:  The level of sustainment spending? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  How is that a change in business conditions?

MR. BARRETT:  That we're spending twice as much money as we used to on sustainment spending?  That's not a change in operating conditions?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it's not; it's a change in spending.

MR. BARRETT:  Okay.  Do you want to talk about what the main drivers in the model are?  Because there is nothing in there for age of assets.  There is nothing that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not true at all.

MR. BARRETT:  -- really deals explicitly with -- there is nothing -- there is no business condition variable that deals explicitly with the age of assets and need for replacement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not true at all.  The whole thing is based on a capital structure that starts with the age of the assets.

MR. BARRETT:  That's not true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It goes back 30 years.  Right?


MR. BARRETT:  That's not the age of asset, and that's not the need for replacement.  That is historical level of spending, and I would agree with you that it contains historic levels of spending.

And I would further submit that utilities have not been spending enough on capital and there has been a number -- over the 2002 to 2012 period that this model is based on, and there's a number of reasons for that.

One of them might happen to be a price freeze.  A rate freeze from 2002 to 2005 might have a factor in influencing their capital spending which drives the model -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't ask you about capital spending, Mr. Barrett.  I asked you about benchmarking.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, and you asked me why it was going up, and I'm trying to explain to you why we feel that while we are remaining within the cohort 3 range, that we're moving up in it.  And we do take it seriously, and we are trying to understand it. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to ask you two questions.  First of all, are you saying there is a flaw in the model; yes or no?

MR. BARRETT:  No, I didn't say there was a flaw in the model.  I said the model has limitations, and I would be glad to take you to the evidence we filed and quote PEG's own reports on –- own words on the model.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You said there was a change in business conditions.  Aside from the fact that you're spending more money, what's your change in business conditions? 

MR. MACDONALD:  I think I addressed that earlier.  We -- through our getting better at asset condition assessment and asset planning, we realize we have to invest more in our distribution system to maintain reliability. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not a change in business conditions; that's a change in spending, right?  Nothing has happened externally to the company; you've just figured out we need to spend more money, right? 

MR. MACDONALD:  No, I disagree.  Our service territory is getting older with time.  There's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  How is that different from anybody else? 

MR. BARRETT:  It's not.  But if I take you back to the model, the historic levels of spending certainly have changed for PowerStream, and we've demonstrated that in the evidence.  And I would submit that's likely true of other utilities, too, with this increased -- between the price freeze or rate freeze in the early 2000s, which covers a significant portion of that range on which that model is built on.

That model is built on capital spending, past capital spending trends; that's basically what it's built on and I -- sorry.  I'm trying to explain to you why we believe that's correct. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's what I don't understand -- 


MR. BARRETT:  I disagree with your characterization of it.  That's what I'm saying, and we've done work to try --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I get that --


MR. BARRETT:  -- and figure out -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask my question, please?

MR. BARRETT:  Sure. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is what I don't understand, and you can help me understand this. 

What you say is -- the Board says benchmarking is critical input in RRFE. 

MR. BARRETT:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And particularly in custom IR.  You've said our benchmarking is the PEG report.  Now you're saying, oh, by the way, all the stuff that PEG says we're overspending, you can't -- you have to ignore that because the PEG model doesn't really capture things properly. 

So my question is:  If the PEG model doesn't do it right, why didn't you file proper benchmarking? 

MR. MACDONALD:  Perhaps I can try this a different way. 

So we think it's appropriate to use the PEG model, the Board's model for benchmarking at the highest level.  So we have taken the data, and we've plotted out -- there's five cohorts.  We're in the middle, cohort 3.  We've plotted out the years 2016 to 20, and we stay in the same cohort.  But you're correct, our costs align is high.  It stays within the ten percent bandwidth. 

That is concerning to us.  But as Mr. Barrett mentioned, we had to balance that fact with what we need to do in terms of our distribution system, in terms of being good utility managers and looking after our power distribution system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we've heard this --


MR. MACDONALD:  We didn't come here to criticize the PEG model.  In the PEG report itself it mentions limitations.  Any model has, you know, pros and cons.  Our purpose is not to throw darts at the PEG model, but we felt it was the most appropriate to use.  It's the Board's model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the Board said, "Well, okay.  We have your benchmarking information.  Your benchmarking information says you're asking for $100 million too much.  We're going to cut you back by $100 million," that would be fine, right?  That's fair?

MR. MACDONALD:  If the Board made a decision like that we would take that decision.  I mean, we would respect that.

MR. BARRETT:  But I would add we don't believe that's what it says.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you don't believe what?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't believe that that's -- the way you characterize what that model is saying and what we present in our evidence, I don't believe that the way you characterize is accurate, but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  How is it wrong?  It's your numbers.  Your numbers say your actual costs are $100 million more than predicted.

MR. BARRETT:  Right.  And --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's your numbers.

MR. BARRETT:  Absolutely.  And I would once again refer the Board back to the cost allocation model.  They have bands for a reason.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So just ignore that $100 million.  It's too small to matter.

MR. BARRETT:  I didn't say that.

MR. MACDONALD:  We didn't say that, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so here's -- lookit.  You were a good performer, it appears, 7.4 percent below predicted costs, and you're now going to go up to somewhere 8 percent or more, I don't know how much it actually is, by 2020.  You're going in the wrong direction, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  We are -- we remain in the middle cohort, cohort 3, the middle performance.  We remain there for the plan period.  We start to move above the predicted cost line but stay within the 10 percent bandwidth the Board allows.  But it's concerning.

But I'm repeating that we're doing this so that we can upgrade our system and have a reliable system for our customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you take a look at page 71 of our materials -- sorry, page 69 of our materials -- I even lied again; page 68 of our materials.  This is back to the Hydro One Networks decision, which is the Board's most thorough explanation of custom IR and what it expects, and one of the things they talk about is that, while Hydro One is a poor performer compared to the predicted costs, it's improving, and that's an important thing.  Do you see that?

MR. MACDONALD:  No, not yet.  Which paragraph?

MR. SHEPHERD:  For example:

"Hydro One's average cost performance has improved by 10.4 percent over the 2012 benchmarking study."

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, I do see that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- and in the last sentence:

"While Hydro One's productivity trend is negative, the evidence indicates that the trend may become less negative and may continue to improve over the next few years."

So one of the things that's important to the Board is trajectory, right?  And it's important to you too, isn't it?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Your trajectory is in the opposite direction.  Your trajectory is getting worse.  And I don't see anything in this application that says we are prepared to live with the levels of costs that the benchmarking says we should spend.  Instead you appear to be saying our budgets trump the benchmarking.  Isn't that what you're saying?

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't know if I would say it exactly that way, but we have a very rigorous capital planning process, which the panel 2 can describe better than I can.  But, you know, we have -- probably a third of that is things we have to do.  We have to serve customers.  We have to move plant when roads are widened, et cetera.   And we have to -- as Mr. Barrett said, we have to do programs to sustain a system upgrade.

So it's a balance.  The cost -- we're staying within our bandwidth and staying at the same cohort.  The trend is concerning, but we weigh that against what we really feel as good managers that we need to do.  It's a balance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the budget is more important than the benchmark; isn't that right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Not -- it's not the budget.  It's the physical power system.  It's keeping that system working properly for our customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if this Board says the predicted cost is $100 million less, that's what you get, we're all going to die?  The system is going to fall apart?  Is that what's going to happen?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, that's a bit dramatic, but, you know, reliability will decline over time, and that's something that customers care a lot about.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the model isn't capturing that, isn't capturing that need to spend more money, or is it specific to PowerStream or is it generally a problem?

MR. MACDONALD:  So generally -- and I -- again, I don't want to put myself out as an economist, but certainly what Mr. Barrett said is accurate that the period of data 2002-2012 that underpins the PEG model wouldn't have been as weighted with -- heavily as capital spending as you're seeing today.  So it's not unique to PowerStream.  The PEG analysis uses the data, as you know, for all utilities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the model is just wrong.

MR. MACDONALD:  No, I don't want to say it's wrong.  I'm not saying it's wrong.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to turn to another area now, and this is your strategic plan, so if you turn to page 20 of our materials.  This is your current strategic plan, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  This is the most recent formal plan that's, you know, a Word written document.  This is from 2012.  So it's the most recent sort of formal published strategic plan; that's correct.  Maybe out of date by now, but it's from 2012.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were asked for this document in F.SEC.7, and we never saw it.  Why not?  Why wasn't it filed?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, as explained in that IR response, this has been superseded by what we call a strategy map, and that's actually in this document.  It's on your page 35.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, that's not actually true, is it?  If you take a look at page 83 of our materials, this is a  -- this is your current unanimous shareholders' agreement, right?  It's an excerpt from your current unanimous shareholders' agreement dated November 1st, 2013?

MR. MACDONALD:  This is the document I provided to you yesterday?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you see under (r), the strategic plan must be updated by January 1st, 2016; isn't that right?  And that's not the strategy map, that is this document, isn't it?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yeah, I think historically we've tried to do the document -- the strategic plan I provided, we've tried to do a refresh every three years.  I don't know that a refresh is planned before the end of this year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm taking a look at page 78.  This defines the strategic plan, and the strategic plan is this document, isn't it?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.  I don't mean to be evasive, but I really think that -- I don't know if there is a plan -- I'm not aware of a plan to make a formal document like this before the end of this year.

Just working in the company day-to-day we do use the one-page strategy map, plan the page, as our strategic plan.  That's just -- I'm just telling you what the practice is in the company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're ignoring your own unanimous shareholders' agreement?

MR. MACDONALD:  It's possible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You know you're not allowed to, right?  The unanimous shareholders' agreement is binding on your board of directors.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Macdonald is not here to give an opinion on his unanimous shareholders' agreement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking -- I'm asking whether he knows that he is not allowed to breach this provision.  Either he knows or he doesn't.

MR. MACDONALD:  I did not know that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So as far as you know, this requirement to have a new strategic plan approved by January 1st, 2016, no action has been taken on that?

MR. MACDONALD:  I mean, from my knowledge I don't know that there is anything been done on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it possible it's happening and you don't know?

MR. MACDONALD:  It's possible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How would that be?  Were you involved in the development of the previous strategic plan?

MR. MACDONALD:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you could -- there could be executives at your organization right now with a final version of a strategic plan ready for approval by January 1st, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  I mean, it's possible.  In my role, I try to have a sense of what's happening.  I'm not aware of that.  I can find out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you came here as a witness, part of your responsibility is to make sure you knew all the material facts, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't know everything that's happening in the company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you were asked for a strategic plan, didn't you at least ask the president is there one?

MR. MACDONALD:  And that's what I sent you yesterday.  I didn't ask the president, but I asked for the most recent document.  We previously said to you in response to your IR that this is not what we use day-to-day.  We use the one-page strategy map.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except the strategy map doesn't have any details on it.  It refers back to this document, doesn't it?  In fact it has little codes –- F1, F3, C1 -- doesn't it?

MR. MACDONALD:  I think it -- I think some of those designations may have changed as well in the last three years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you would undertake to advise whether the company is in the process of preparing, or intends to prepare a new strategic plan in compliance with its unanimous shareholders' agreement by January 1, 2016?

MR. MACDONALD:  We can undertake to do that, certainly.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THE COMPANY IS IN THE PROCESS OF PREPARING, OR INTENDS TO PREPARE A NEW STRATEGIC PLAN IN COMPLIANCE WITH ITS UNANIMOUS SHAREHOLDERS' AGREEMENT BY JANUARY 1, 2016

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to ask a couple of questions about this plan, and I understand you may well say no, that's out of date, this is out of date.  But I think the things I'm going to ask questions about are probably not out of date, but we'll see.

And I want to start with page 22.  You had a formal planning process, as you'll see in the first paragraph, and then it says:
"This information was used as input for the SWOT analysis."


You're familiar with the SWOT analysis?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that filed in this proceeding?

MR. MACDONALD:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we see it?

MR. MACDONALD:  I'll endeavour to find that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I would like is the most recent one, not necessarily the one from 2012.  But you update that regularly, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Not necessarily, but I can try to find what's been done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. MACDONALD:  When you're doing a planning exercise, sometimes you do the SWOT analysis, the four parts, and sometimes you don't.  It just depends how it's being done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You do planning every year, right?

MR. MACDONALD:   We do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Each year, although you may not write a new strategic plan, you're always updating what your actual plan is, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And how do you document that?

MR. MACDONALD:  We've moved -- well, the main high-level document is the strategy map.  We call that the plan, the page.  It has the pillars and what's important, and the corporate values at the bottom.

We moved also -- we've had for a number of years we've moved more to rely on a balanced scorecard to capture what the corporation aspires to achieve.  Those were put into evidence as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, I guess what I'm used to is to see companies -- especially companies that are relatively comprehensively run, as I know you are -- have a set of principles that drive strategy and, at the other end, a set of deliverables, and in the middle, an implementation plan that gets you from one to the other.

And that's what this strategic plan is, it appears.  But I don't see -- it sounds like you're saying you got rid of the middle part.

MR. MACDONALD:   No, the middle part is -- if we were to pull up a scorecard, the middle part is part of the scorecard.  So the scorecard is the combination of measures, targets you want to meet in terms of reliability --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the deliverables, in other words?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's how you measure your outcomes.  But on that -- that scorecard is also a blend, because it has initiatives.  We are going to put in a work management system, we are going to, you know, XYZ.  So it's included in the scorecard.  So that middle piece you mentioned, to me that's execution.  That's captured on our scorecard.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have anything else aside from that?

MR. MACDONALD:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Interesting.

MS. HELT:  Mr. Shepherd, you're still wanting that undertaking with respect to the SWOT analysis?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  So Undertaking J1.5 would be for PowerStream to make inquiries and determine if there is a SWOT analysis in existence and, if so, to provide the most recent version of that SWOT analysis.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO MAKE INQUIRIES AND DETERMINE IF THERE IS A SWOT ANALYSIS IN EXISTENCE AND, IF SO, TO PROVIDE THE MOST RECENT VERSION OF THAT SWOT ANALYSIS

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now if you take a look at the next page, page 23 -- and this is where I was sort of going with looking at the strategic plan –- you'll see the paragraph:
"PowerStream's vision of future growth for its core distribution business continues to be focused on York region and Simcoe County, along with the service territory of Hydro One Brampton."
And I think what this is saying is your target is to use M&A activity to expand the size of your core distribution business.

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's correct.  And that's been the case since 2004 anyway, right?  Maybe before that?

MR. MACDONALD:  And before, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because when the three utilities originally got together, that was because one or more of them had this vision of M&A causing better returns, increased value, and better results for the ratepayers, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's continued to be the case.  This is one of your primary drivers in how you run your business.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And now you've changed, I guess, the geographic footprint a little bit because of the merger that's coming up.  Is that a change in your strategy, or is that just a happenstance?

I don't want to talk about the merger, I just want to know whether your strategy has changed.

MR. MACDONALD:  The strategy has stayed the same, and we do talk about a footprint.  So if you picture a rectangle going up from York region up through Simcoe County, that remains our footprint, our target area for consolidation.

However, real life happens, and an opportunity came to explore a merger with Horizon.  That didn't change our plan.  I don't think anyone put up their hand and said, hey, wait, we can't talk to them because they're outside the left side of the box.

So that's just what happens in business day to day; opportunities arise.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you take a look at page 27 of your materials -- actually, let me back up a stage.

So you have this strategy to grow through M&A.  How do you do that?  What's your day-to-day practice for how you pursue that strategy?  I'm not talking about necessarily right now with the mega-merger on the go.  I'm trying to avoid that.

But rather in the last couple years, let's say, can you just describe what you do to pursue this?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, you might be surprised by my answer, but our main strategy is we wait for utilities to come to us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you talk to lots of them, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  But we don't go out and knock on doors.  We rely on our track record and our reputation, and we take a soft approach.

As you know, in the last number of years there has been a distribution sector panel report, there has been the Clark panel report.  So there's been a lot of chatter in the industry.  We didn't --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've been actively involved in those processes, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  In both of -- we put submissions into both of those proceedings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My understanding is that PowerStream actually actually had a much more direct involvement in the Clark analysis, were actively involved in discussions with them.  It's right in your annual report somewhere.

MR. MACDONALD:  So yes, but I was trying to explain what we do in terms of mergers.  So if, you know, a utility is interested, they may come to us.  We don't -- to say we don't have a, like, an M&A department that goes out and sends letters and knocks on doors.  We truly let utilities approach us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's an important part of the job of Mr. Bentz, for example, or Mr. Glicksman, an important part is to make sure that they are in discussions -- M&A discussions with other utilities, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  It's part of their job as executives, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you've had discussions, for example, with Veridian and with Innisfil and Enersource, of course; a lot of other utilities, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, Enersource is part of current discussions.  I don't think it'd be appropriate for me to mention other utilities that we've talked to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I got these from a Google search, so none of these are secret.

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't know really what's on Google.  I just -- I just feel in my role I shouldn't comment on any discussions we've had.  Those are private.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking for the details of them.  All I'm asking for -- let me do it a different way.  You've had discussions with lots of other utilities about possible partnerships of various types, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Not lots.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Guess.

MR. MACDONALD:  Guess what?

MR. SHEPHERD:  How many.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir -- sorry, Mr. Chair, I'm sorry -- excuse me, sorry.  I understand that some of these discussions may have been public because Mr. Shepherd found them by using Google, but my question is more how is this in scope.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is this part of your normal day-to-day activity, is M&A?

MR. MACDONALD:  For some part of the senior most staff -- I wouldn't say day-to-day, but it's part of their job.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So, yeah, it's in scope.  As a stand-alone utility this is one of the things you do, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm just looking for a reference here, which I put in exactly for this purpose.  I'm just trying to find it.  Ah, yeah.  Page 89 of our materials.  Now, you have a strategic partnership with Collus, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In which you own 50 percent of Collus and they operate as an independent utility but you provide a whole lot of services to them that help them keep their costs down, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Not quite.  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. MACDONALD:  -- largely correct.  We own 50 percent of Collus, and they do run independently, so they file their own rate applications, for example.  And we -- I would just say to the last point, we provide a limited number of services to them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  If you look at page 88 of our material.  This is a presentation by Mr. Houghton.  Do you know Mr. Houghton?

MR. MACDONALD:  Do I know him?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And he is the president of Collus, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so in January of this year he gave this presentation, and page 88 is one of the pages of his presentation, talking about this very partnership.  And he talks about all the things that are the benefits to Collus, so for example, "a stronger voice in shaping provincial energy and economic development policies", right?

MR. MACDONALD:  I see that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And "allow for additional options for future potential strategic transactions".

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, I see that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so -- and if you look at the next page, one of his main headings is "complementary geographic coverage and potential future diversity", and he is talking about the fact that they see "value and potential in augmenting this geographic diversity with strategically partnering with other adjacent LDCs to create increases in scale and scope."  That's your strategy, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, there's a lot of big words in that bullet, but our plan when we did that transaction in 2012 by buying half of Collus PowerStream, or Collus at that time, we had hoped that other distributors in that area -- and again, Mr. Shepherd, you're -- those are -- Collus is outside of our footprint --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I wondered.  I wondered about that, but I didn't want to ask that.

MR. MACDONALD:  -- but we -- but we had -- we had thought perhaps other utilities between Collus and Collingwood, Town of Collingwood, and -- but going back towards Barrie might want to join into a similar partnership of some type.  That has not happened.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You tried?

MR. MACDONALD:  Again, not aggressively.  We thought what we did was compelling, and we -- but we didn't knock on doors of utilities in that area.  We did this transaction and waited to see what might happen.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you look at page 37 of our materials.  This is back to your business plan.  Now, you had in 20 -- in 2012 you had a list of 2015 critical success factors, so that's now.  And one of them is shareholder value, your five-year average ROE exceeds the OEB allowable rate.  Did you achieve that?

MR. MACDONALD:  I would have to check this answer, but I think our average ROE is at or above -- at or just slightly above the allowed ROE.  Yeah, I'm getting yes --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. MACDONALD:  -- from my panel members.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So despite the fact that you're coming in and asking for a lot more money, you're actually doing okay, thanks very much, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, we're allowed to earn the rate of return.  That's why it's called "allowed".  And I don't think we're far above it, but we do try to run our business so we make the allowed return.  And again, that is an RRFE outcome.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The next one is profitable new growth, 25 percent from new business, including -- and this is the important part here -- growth in customer base to between 400,000 and 500,000.  Now, that was one of your 2015 critical success factors.  You haven't achieved that yet, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  No, we have not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you're still working on it?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, we are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And these critical success factors, these are ones that your board of directors has approved, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so they're looking to you or to -- actually, to senior management, but really the whole organization, they're looking to you to deliver on these, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you say, "Now, you know, we didn't get to between 400,000 and 500,000," you have to explain why, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have to work hard to achieve it?

MR. MACDONALD:  We have to make some effort to achieve those figures, yes.

I would -- sorry, I want to go back just to help clarify something else.  So I mentioned that we use a strategy map to communicate strategy.  We also use this one-page critical success factors, and they were filed in our evidence as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're in my materials.

MR. MACDONALD:  Okay.  So there is an updated version, but I would describe these as sort of stretch, aspirational.  I mean, they're kind of those big goals that you -- companies should have, so that's just the context of these.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Take a look at page 38.  You see F3.  Now, F3 refers to one of the items on your one-pager, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's "pursue core business growth", and that is mergers and acquisition, right?  Mainly.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, it does say that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you're still doing that?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, we're busy with one right now, but that's been an ongoing -- like you said, Mr. Shepherd, since probably 2002.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My question is a simple one.  You said that this document is not necessarily up-to-date.  I want to make sure that this one, F3, has not changed, it's still a key component of your objectives.

MR. MACDONALD:  Oh, it's definitely an important part of our objectives today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And similarly, continuing developing the PowerStream brand down here in C3, that's still a key target item?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Can you turn to page 44 now.  Oh, actually, before we do that, what do you do to develop the PowerStream brand?  How do you -- what are the actions you take to build that brand?

MR. MACDONALD:  I think the main thing we did in 2014 and '15 was we developed a customer experience plan, and that was filed as well.  So really, again and again, it gets to the employee culture.  We try to make all the experiences for customers as positive as we can.  So whether that's in the field, on the phone, using our website, all those things, we try to make the -- we want to leave a good impression with customers.  So this is not a glitzy marketing campaign.  It's more a way of doing business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is -- I read somewhere here, and I don't remember where it is, that you have sort of a touchstone that is you should do everything as if somebody -– as if your customers could see it.  That is you shouldn't -- your actions should be based on -- I can't think of the exact quote, but on the assumption that they're seeing what you're doing and they're approving it?

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't recall that, but I do like it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, that will be ten dollars.  I'll leave that.

Take a look at page 44.  And by the way, that PowerStream brand is intimately connected with your M&A strategy, right, because as you want to expand through M&A, your passive approach is because your brand is a good one, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have this whole strategy to make PowerStream attractive so that people are going to call you?

MR. MACDONALD:  We've worked very hard to position ourselves in everything we do to be professional.  It's not really up to us to say, but we've tried to be trusted in the industry, trusted advisors, so yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, we saw the 2015 critical success factors.  Take a look at page 44; this is your 2020 critical success factors, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, you're right.  This is what was filed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you take a look at shareholder value, now it's actually increased.  Instead of being above a Board-approved ROE, now it's 100 basis points above.  That's your target, right, a higher target than before?

MR. MACDONALD:  Right, but that shows you how business conditions change, because this reflects the fact we now have an unregulated affiliate.  We didn't have that for the previous critical success factors.

So again, our aspiration is that our unregulated business would achieve perhaps more than the -- it's a not -– you know, the OEB or ROE doesn't apply, but we're hoping they would achieve more than that.

That's reflected in that statement now.  It says consolidated, so that's the LDC and the affiliate company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your affiliate company has an internal target of 10.5; I think it's 10.5.

MR. MACDONALD:  No, it would depend on the business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The renewable generation business is the important one, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's not in our affiliate; that's in the LDC.  The solar business, it's in the LDC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Your affiliate profit is a small percentage of your total profit, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Again, this is aspirational, stretch.  The way we see the industry changing, we think our affiliate will be a bigger contributor to our earnings in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here you have the growth target again, except that now it's much higher.  Now it's 2 to 3 billion dollars in revenues, and 15 to 20 percent of annual net income from new businesses, and a growth in customer base to 600 to 750.

So even though you didn't make the 2015 target, you now have a much higher target to get after, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the date of this document?

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't know.  I'll have to undertake to find out the date.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you give me rough idea?  What I am wondering is is it post-mega merger or pre-mega merger?

MR. MACDONALD:  We're thinking about 2013-2014.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's probably pre-mega merger?

MR. MACDONALD:  Sorry, pre?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mega merger.


MR. MACDONALD:  Pre the current merger, yes.  Actually, that makes sense.  2014 makes sense because I think we tried to do a five-year window, so that would be about right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I wonder if you could turn to page 109 of our materials?  I have just two areas left to deal with, and this is one of them.

This is your current 2K, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't updated this since then, since May 22nd?

MS. CLARK:  No, we haven't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The various changes that have happened during this process, are they going to result in changes to this or not?

MS. CLARK:  What do you mean by changes?

MR. SHEPHERD:  So during the course of the interrogatories and everything, you've made a bunch of adjustments.  And of course, you have more information now, six months later.

MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your planning is evolving.  Is this still your plan, or do you have a new plan?

MS. CLARK:  I believe this is still our plan.  The only exception is this does not include the FTEs related to monthly billing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So plus monthly billing.

MS. CLARK:  That's right.  We didn't update this schedule as part of the update from the August IRs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm looking at the executive level and you've got 30 executives, which you've explained is everybody from director level up, right?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So those people -- the total cost of those people over the next five years is expected to be around $45 million, as I see your estimate.  Am I in the ballpark?

MS. CLARK:  Subject to check, that sounds about right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are these numbers regulatory only, or are these total cost?

MS. CLARK:  These include only regulatory people, or people in the core business.  It does not include any other business; is that what you mean?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  For example, Mr. Bentz is the CEO.  He's the CEO of everything, right?  He is in these totals, right?

MS. CLARK:  Yes.  Yes, he is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is some of his cost taken out of there, or is his whole cost in there?

MS. CLARK:  I believe his whole cost is in there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I wonder if you could undertake to advise, for each of 2016 through 2020 -- and just for the executives is okay right now -- how much of that total cost of $45 million, or whatever it is -- how much of that total cost is not included in regulatory, in your regulatory ask.  Can you do that?

MS. CLARK:  We have included our SLAs as well.  So that would show the percentage of time our executives do spend on other businesses.  We have included that, but I can undertake to provide that additional information for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  to advise, for each of 2016 through 2020, for the executives, how much of that total cost of $45 million, or whatever it is, is not included in your regulatory ask

MR. SHEPHERD:  So tell me just at a high level:  What activities of your executives do you move out of the regulated cost?

MS. CLARK:  At a high level, we move out any time they spend on -- say, for the affiliate business or the solar business would not be included in here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But anything they spend on M&A, for example, that's included, right?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, that's included.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So for example, over the last year you had a cost here in 2015 of $8.2 million for your executives, and I presume your executives spent a pretty fair bit of time on M&A activity in the last year, right?

MS. CLARK:  From what I understand, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's included in the regulated estimates, right?  Your regulated numbers would include that?

MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly, going forward in 2016 through 2020, as you continue this M&A strategy to drive growth -- for example, closing the deal next year or whenever do you -- all those costs as well are included in regulated rates in your stand-alone application, aren't they?

MS. CLARK:  Do you mean M&A costs included in OM&A, or do you mean time of executive spent like --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Time of executive spent.

MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I'm going to ask you to do, then, is I'm going to ask you to take -- again just deal with the executive line right now.   I'm going to come back to a more detailed issue in a second with this.  But just the executive line, and take from 2012 to 2020, this line, and provide an estimate with justification for how much of that cost relates to M&A for each year.

MS. CLARK:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  Mr. Shepherd, and then for J1.7 if you can just reiterate what you're asking for --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  -- specifically with respect to the line you're referring to for the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The line is --


MS. HELT:  -- purpose of the record.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- the executive total compensation line, and for each of those numbers in the -- starting with 7,190 and going to 9,090, in dollars, for each of those, split it out, the amount of their time and effort and therefore their cost spent on M&A activity in each of those years, both actual and forecast.

You keep some record of that, right?

MS. CLARK:  We would have a high-level estimate for that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  WITH RESPECT TO THE LINE REFERRED TO, THE EXECUTIVE TOTAL COMPENSATION LINE, FOR EACH OF THOSE NUMBERS STARTING WITH 7,190 AND GOING TO 9,090, IN DOLLARS, FOR EACH OF THOSE, SPLIT OUT THE AMOUNT OF THEIR TIME AND EFFORT AND THEREFORE THEIR COST SPENT ON M&A ACTIVITY IN EACH OF THOSE YEARS, BOTH ACTUAL AND FORECAST.

Now, just, I want to sort of pursue that -- the concept a little further, and to do that I want to go to page 62 of our materials.  And this is your most recent PJC, which is your OM&A budget, right?

MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I want to just ask about some of these, because some of them look to me like they will include activities associated with M&A.  So for example, clearly corporate will, right?

MS. CLARK:  No, no, corporate doesn't.  Corporate includes things like insurance.  We have memberships at the corporate level there as well, so, no, that actually doesn't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So corporate doesn't include any executive time?

MS. CLARK:  No, no, it's actually just a corporate cost, like insurance, things that relate to the corporation as a whole.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So there is no personnel in there at all?

MS. CLARK:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Where are the executives, then?

MS. CLARK:  The executives are throughout.  There's some in, say, for example strategic direction, there's some in, like, legal, so some executives relation to legal would include in that business unit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So in strategic direction there is clearly going to be some M&A costs, right?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, there would be some M&A costs in strategic --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly in legal?

MS. CLARK:  Well, we're talking about -- this is OM&A, so in OM&A, though, we haven't budgeted any O -- M&A costs throughout the period --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the people who are doing this work --


MS. CLARK:  Yeah, yeah, yes --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- you're paying them, right?

MS. CLARK:  -- I see where you're going, yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're getting that in rates.

MS. CLARK:  Yes, yes, so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. CLARK:  -- the people who are in relation to the comp table we talked about that are located in this -- each -- yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, but that's just the executives, and I understand that the --


MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- executives are one level, but you --


MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- have a whole lot of other people working on any merger opportunity, right?

MS. CLARK:  No, no, no, we don't.  No, we gen -- as Mr. Macdonald said, generally it's the executive level that works at the -- on the M&A activity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2015 you didn't have teams of people working on a merger?

MS. CLARK:  People were involved in the merger, but it wasn't their full-time job, so it's not a part of their regular work that they do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a merger model, right?  An IT model that you use to model a potential merger?  I've seen it.  I know.

MS. YOUNG:  Sorry, what are you referring to?  I'm just think -- when you say a merger model?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, it's a model of how you merge the costs and the revenues of two utilities into one entity.

MS. YOUNG:  I would say internally we would probably have some type of an Excel model that would model potential merger opportunities, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And somebody developed that, right?

MS. YOUNG:  Yeah, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And somebody is responsible for it and -- to use it for -- and it's not Mr. Bentz who uses it?

MS. YOUNG:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if I look at the IT list, this $9 million you have in 2015 for IT, a big jump from 2014, some of that is going to be for M&A activity, isn't it?

MS. CLARK:  No, not in IT.  That big jump relates to the maintenance contract for our new customer-service system --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  You just said --


MS. CLARK:  That's not -- sorry, that's just not in IT -- in the IT area --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MS. CLARK:  -- that model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- if you have a merger model nobody in IT looked at it?  Nobody in IT is responsible for it?

MS. YOUNG:  No, it's an Excel model.  I -- you know, we use all different kinds of models.  It's not a heavy component of our IT to use an Excel spreadsheet and to, you know, estimate revenues or things like that.  It's an Excel model.  I don't see that that's a lot -- heavily supported by our IT department.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have an ERP system?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you use that ERP system to run your business?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you're contemplating merging, you have to go to your ERP model and model different scenarios, right?

MS. YOUNG:  No, not our -- we have an Excel spreadsheet that we use that was probably developed by some external party.  I think it's morphed over time.  It's an Excel spreadsheet, and so it's not part of our ER system or anything.  It's just estimates and financial statements.  You put them together and look at the synergies.  It's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you're looking at a possible merger do you involve your HR people?

MR. MACDONALD:  It depends.  I'm thinking of the Barrie -- it just depends on the timing.  I'm thinking the last one we did was Barrie, so as Ms. Young and Ms. Clark described, you know, there's executives would deal with that first.  I guess as it becomes more real you start to look at more details.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't sign until you've done your homework, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  No, there's due diligence done by PowerStream in that case, by Barrie Hydro, and also -- well, those two in that case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And when you do that it's not just Mr. Glicksman or Mr. Nolan (ph) that does it.  You have a whole bunch of people in the organization who have to get involved on engineering issues, on accounting issues, on HR issues, because you have to know how bad it's going to be, right?  How much is it going to cost to do this?  Right?

MR. MACDONALD:  In that case I think more of that type of work was done after.  I remember being here for the MAADS application.  I don't think we had all those details fleshed out when the merger was approved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't investigate whether there were engineering differences, like your systems were in -- were -- had -- had problems?  That you had to get a different set of parts for this one than for this one?

MS. YOUNG:  If I could make -- clarify, so basically, depending on the merger, as Colin said, lots of times we sort of sit back and wait for an opportunity to come up.  In 2009 there was an opportunity with Barrie.  We did look and have the departments involved at a point in time when it looked like it's a very serious transaction.

And so I would say again it's nobody's full-time job or a large part of their job.  These come up every four, five years, maybe an opportunity might come up that requires people's time.  And so I would say it's, you know, depending on the type of merger, and you're correct, you know, in some of the larger mergers it requires other departments to get involved.

I would say we do that at a very point where we know it's quite serious.  And so, yes, over very -- over several years depending on how involved we get, we involve other people and departments.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2016 you're forecasting to have 567 FTEs, right, plus monthly billing cost?

MS. CLARK:  Yeah.  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Are you intending -- and I don't want to talk about the merger, please, please, but I do want to know, are you going to add more people to do the merger stuff next year?  Is that your current plan?

MS. CLARK:  No, our current plan is to hire what we forecasted in our budget, which is based on PowerStream stand-alone and has nothing do with the merger.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not what I'm asking.  What I'm asking is a different question.  If you merge do you have to add more people to do the merger stuff, because there is a lot of stuff to do when you do a merger, right?

MS. CLARK:  That is not our plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then these 567 people, that's who you expect is going to do all the merger stuff next year?

MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And we're paying for it.  These are all in rates, right?

MS. YOUNG:  I would just -- just to clarify, there will be different scenarios.  In some areas, we might need help to and we'll get appropriate people to help us in certain areas.  I'm sure that will happen; consulting type activities will happen, I'm sure, that will get involved.

That type of detail still has to be worked out.  We haven't really sat down and developed a plan.



MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  My last area is -- sorry.  My last area is I want to -- your application currently before the Board does not include any benefits associated with the mega merger?, right?  It's a stand-alone application, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then -- and so that covers your rates, what the customers are going to be charged until 2020 at least, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I want you to turn to page 111 of our material, because this is the information that you provided to the City of Vaughan.  And the City of Vaughan, you told them that there would be what looks like about $13 million of customer benefits in the first five years.

Now, if that's going to be something you propose in your merger application, that's fine.  What I want to know here is:  Is that in this application?  Is that 13 million in here somewhere, and we haven't seen it?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think now we've gotten back to discussions on the merger, and we've gotten back to discussions about merger savings that are clearly out-of- scope.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I'm sorry, but my friend is incorrect.  If this is a stand-alone application, then these can't be in the application because these are merger savings.  And if they are in the application, I would like to know where they are.

Maybe what they're telling the shareholder is different than what they're telling this Board.  That's fine, too.  Just tell us.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Your question -- just to be clear for my own purposes, Mr. Shepherd -- is whether or not these savings as they're depicted here are included in this application in a stand-alone sense?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.

MR. MACDONALD:  So the answer is no.  The application we've presented does not include merger costs or savings.  It's PowerStream stand-alone.

 I think it's important to qualify as well, Mr. Shepherd, that for the record this is not our report.  This is a report -- this particular one is Vaughan staff, and they would have relied upon their own advisors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, that's not correct, is it?  They relied on the Navigant report, and the Navigant report in turn took numbers directly from PowerStream.  You provided the numbers to Navigant --


MR. MACDONALD:  That's not --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- and they then altered them, right?

MR. MACDONALD:  No, that's not correct.  They did their own analysis.  And we had to -- we'd have to be independent from any consultants that our shareholders are using.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They -- all right.  So the same would be true in Markham, because Markham also thinks there's savings coming.  If you see page 95 of our material, savings in the first five years, those savings are also not in this application?

MR. MACDONALD:  No, just to confirm that the application that's before us does not include merger costs or benefits.  It's PowerStream stand-alone.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And you have not told the shareholders that those benefits are coming in those five years, right?  Their consultants may have, but you have not -– you, PowerStream, have not?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Chair, I'm sorry.  We're still in an area that's not relevant to this proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a credibility issue.  If they've told the shareholder that they're going to get -- the customers are going to get benefits in the next five years, and they're telling this Board that it's not in this application, they've got some explaining to do.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the explanation, Mr. Shepherd, is the context in which those premises were established on, are they not?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if consultants have put this in, that's fine.  But if PowerStream has said to the shareholder we're going to give your local residents $13 million of rate reductions --


MR. QUESNELLE:  If there is a merger.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- if there is a merger, and this is the rate application, I want to know where it is in the rate application, because the rate application is supposed to be stand-alone.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The premise is clear from the witnesses on what the rate application is based on, and that is that there is no merger activities, costs or benefits reflected.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  What I understand in these presentations, those presentations are based on the premise of a merger and acquisition, this is what will happen.  So any further than that I think is for argument as to the impact of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fair enough.  Thank you, witnesses.  Those are our questions.

MR. MACDONALD:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It's quarter to one now.  I think we'll take our lunch break now.  Mr. Rubenstein, we've seen you're nodding and you'll be picking up afterwards, I take it.

With everyone's indulgence, I'm hoping this doesn't mess us up at the end of the day, could we maintain the two o'clock return?  Mr. Sidlofsky, is that okay?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's fine.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thanks very much.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:45 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:04 p.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good afternoon.  Be seated.

Okay.  Unless we have any other matters that surfaced over the break, Mr. Rubenstein, I believe you're up next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  I have two documents.  The first is another compendium.  This one says "Cross-Examination Compendium, School Energy Coalition, panel 1, OM&A".

MS. HELT:  We can mark that as Exhibit K1.3.  
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM ENTITLED "CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM, SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION, PANEL 1, OM&A"


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the second one is a -- it's a loose document.  It's a slide from a computer screen.  This is JTC1.3, so it's already on the record.  I -- just accidentally didn't make its way into the compendium.

MS. HELT:  All right then.  And we will mark this then for purpose of the record as K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  Technical Conference undertaking JTC1.3, SLIDE FROM A COMPUTER SCREEN

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good afternoon, panel.  I want to discuss OM&A spending with you for a little bit of time.  And just so we're on the same page, I want to make sure we've got -- we're all talking from the same set of numbers.

If we can just turn to page 2 of my compendium.  And this is your latest Appendix 2JA; am I correct?

MS. CLARK:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do I understand for the, what I would call the plan term or the custom IR period from 2016 to 2020 you're seeking approximately $516 million in OM&A expenses?

MS. CLARK:  Subject to check that seems about right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we start from where you actually spent in your last rebasing year -- that's 2013, which, I am correct that you actually spent less than the Board-approved for that amount by 2.3 percent?

MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then in 2014 you spent 5.7 percent more than 2013.  That's what this is showing?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, that's what that's showing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then this year -- this is 2015 -- you're forecasting to spend 8.3 percent more than in 2015 (sic).

MS. CLARK:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And are we on target to...

MS. CLARK:  We are on target.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So that's about a 14-and-a-half-percent increase over the two years?

MS. CLARK:  Subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's a significant amount.  Would you accept that?

MS. CLARK:  I accept that it's 14 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you don't agree that that's a significant amount over two years?

MS. CLARK:  That is what we've accrued in actuals and forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you think that's a significant amount?  I mean, I understand why you may think that's an appropriate amount, but would you agree --


MS. CLARK:  Compared to --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- that it's a significant amount --


MS. CLARK:  -- our forecast --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.

MS. CLARK:  Compared to our forecast that's a higher percentage, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then in this application if we look at it for the year-by-year basis, you're seeking an additional 4 percent in 2016 over 2015; correct?

MS. CLARK:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then on top of that in 2017 it's an additional 5.8 percent, correct?

MS. CLARK:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then for the years 2018 to 2020 it's 1.9, 2.3, and 2 percent, so a more modest increase.  You'd agree with me?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, I agree.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the significant increases are -- for the test period are in 2016 and 2017; correct?

MS. CLARK:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, did you think about smoothing the OM&A increases, shifting some spending that you may think you need to do in 2015 and 2016 over the longer period of term?

MS. CLARK:  Well, 2017, that related -- the main increase there relates to monthly billing, so that was a Board requirement, so we can't smooth those particular costs, which relate mostly to that 5.8 percent.

In 2016, the remainder of costs are a number of reasons why they occurred in 2016.  Some of those reasons relate to the cost drivers I spoke about earlier, being our CIS, maintenance and contract, things like that, that generally can't be smoothed after integration.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you didn't -- there weren't other expense you say, "No, this year we may need to spend a little less because there are other demands on the amount of money we need"?

MS. CLARK:  The way we build our budget up was year by year, so our goal was that each year that spending is required in order to satisfy our requirements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we look at where you were in 2013, your last rebasing, or the actual amount you spent and where you're planning to spend by 2020, I get about an average increase of about 4.4 percent.  Is that -- would you take that subject to check?  Does that sound reasonable to you?

MS. CLARK:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do you accept that -- and would you agree with me that's significant year-over-year increases?

MS. CLARK:  Do you mean like the 4 percent is a significant year-over-year?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The 4.4 average per year, about 4.4 percent increases, that's a significant amount of money you're seeking?

MS. CLARK:  That is what we have built into our budget for those -- for the actuals and -- or the actual is what we spend and what we built in our budget, we feel that's reasonable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So when you're planning the budget and you're talk -- you know, there's a lot of discussion about the methods from 24 onwards when you built your budget and how you did it, this to you isn't a significant amount?  It's just -- you would just call it a reasonable amount?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, I would call it reasonable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And I think there was some obviously discussion earlier on today that the way you've done your budget, it -- the budget for each of the years at the end result you're setting rates based on a cost-to-serve basis?  I think Mr. Macdonald agreed with that.

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.  Revenue requirement basis, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I just want to -- when it comes to the OM&A amount, am I correct that it's similar -- the specific area of OM&A, it's similarly done on sort of a cost-to-serve basis?

MR. MACDONALD:  How so?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I'm asking, is there any formula or index or something that's decoupling your costs?

MR. MACDONALD:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if you were doing -- if the Board was looking at your OM&A and this was a cost-of-service application on a custom IR application, which you are filing under, what would have been different?

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't think we would have put so much attention on productivity and benchmarking, areas like that in the overall rate plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So can you expand on that?  By "benchmarking" do you mean you wouldn't have done the benchmarking --


MR. MACDONALD:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- the PEG analysis?

MR. MACDONALD:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I mean, you talk about productivity.  You mean -- what do you mean, you wouldn't have put that much emphasis?

MR. MACDONALD:  We wouldn't have -- we have -- in evidence we showed how -- we sort of tracked ourselves against a formula and showed that we're doing more than the -- than our -- than the IPI minus X.  We wouldn't have done that analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But that's how you're presenting it.  I want to understand how you developed the budget.  Would there be a difference in the way you developed a budget under a multi-year cost of service versus your proposal or custom IR?

MR. MACDONALD:  In developing the OM&A budget there wouldn't have been -- well, I'm going to -- I'll take that back.  We definitely changed our approach, and we did a much more robust budget than we had ever done, what we called bottom-up for all the years.  I think our cost-of-service applications have been well-defended, but we did a lot of extra work to develop our OM&A budgets.  We had workforce planning meetings in our departments and did -- looked at every single head count and were really thorough in ensuring there were no costs beyond what was necessary.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And was that a function of it being a custom IR, the function of, it's five years versus what would have been traditionally, I assume, a one-year cost of service?

MR. MACDONALD:  That approach to us was necessary for custom IR, because we really wanted to have certainty over the five-year -- over the five years our forecasts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But is that because of the length of time the five years?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  For the custom -- sorry, a cost-of-service application that was five years?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, I don't know if there is such a thing, but cost of service normally to me is one year.  You know, to do a custom IR application and forecast five years is a little daunting.  So there's a lot of uncertainty in a month or a year, let alone five years, so we just wanted to do a very thorough, robust job on our budgeting.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that customer growth is a relatively small part of the increase in your OM&A budget?  And as I understand your evidence -- and this is on page 6 of the compendium -- for every 1 percent increase in your customer count, your analysis is your OM&A increases related to the customer growth is 0.1145 percent?  So just over a tenth of 1 percent for every 1 percent customer growth?  Is that how I understand the first table 5?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand your evidence that your forecast customer growth rate is about 1.7 on average between 2016 and 2020.

MS. CLARK:  Yes, that's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So approximately -- and we can see this on the table here, approximately 0.2 percent of the year-over-year increase in OM&A is based on customer growth, correct?

MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it's he a relatively small amount.

MS. CLARK:  It's a small amount, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The rest is based on other things not caused by customer growth.  That would be the corollary of that?

MS. CLARK:  Not caused by customer growth, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 7 of my compendium, and you can see this on table 4, we are seeing the rate of growth declining during the customer IR period as compared to previous years; am I correct?  You're not growing as fast as you were?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, it appears so.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  At any point during the budgeting process, looking at this holistically, did PowerStream say we're having lower customer growth in the future, and since the vast majority of our added costs are not directly related to growth, customers are going to be bearing a higher than proportionate rate increase and we need to do something about that.

Did you ever look at it from a rate perspective when you're determining the budget?

MS. YOUNG:  Basically, when we did the budget process, we did look at the growth rates.  I guess we have the -- and specifically a lot of the cost drivers that we talk about aren't specifically growth-related, as you've noted in this evidence.

So yes, we did review all the costs and we knew that it wasn't specific to the growth.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And recognizing that the outcome of that would have been higher rates, at least if we take the OM&A portion and isolate that, did you do anything about it?

Did you say, well, rates are going to go up because of this, and we need to -- there needs to be other areas where we just can't make the OM&A investments that we want, or something else?

Where does rates come in involved in the planning process?

MS. YOUNG:  So one of the processes that we started with the budget targets that we started with was a one percent reduction in other expenses.

So that was a target we set.  So we definitely did push the departments to try to come up with the most reasonable numbers that they could, and try to motivate them to keep the -- what we call inflationary-type costs down.

We did have some other areas, some specific areas where new requirements and -- the storm, the ice storm was one of the examples where it was mitigating circumstances, and we felt there was prudent spending and something that needed to be done.

So there was definitely -- there's definitely a lot of consideration.  We have a budget working group, which is a group of senior executives, that reviewed all the expenses and, you know, basically tried to mitigate where possible any increases.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's increases in cost.  But did you ever say this is where -- at some point, costs turn into rates; you would agree with that?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Did you ever say because of the rate increases that come out of that, we need to move or change our costs?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, I think there was a lot of discussion all the way up, including at the board level, about this and about the rate increases.  It was discussed especially -- I know that we're talking about OM&A, but both OM&A and the capital have a significant effect on rates.

So yes, there was a lot of discussion on it.  But we felt it was prudent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you agree with me that one of the main RRFE objectives is continuous improvement?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is that a major way you've accounted for this in your application is the various productivity initiatives you've undertaken.

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The idea would be that this would affect you budget.  In the absence of these initiatives, your budget would be higher.  Would that be a fair way to put it?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Beginning at page 9 of our compendium, and it goes on to 10 or 11, these are the productivity initiatives, am I correct, that have the budgetary impacts that you've provided?  These are big projects?

MS. YOUNG:  Page 9?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Page 9 through 11, yes.

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, there's some examples.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, through 12; 9 through 12 is the listed ones?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, we have some examples there, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, are there others that –- I mean, I recognize where the –- are there others where there is a budgetary impact that you have listed?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, Ms. Clark and I have some evidence that we have here of other type of productivity savings that were incorporated in the budget.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it's stuff that you have –- they're  not part of these six projects.  They are other things which are --


MS. YOUNG:  There were examples, but I mean –- sorry.

There's examples.  You know, I think we all strive to try to get productivity in our departments, and so there is, I would say, a multitude of things going on in our organization to try to be more productive.

And I think we're, you know, learning and growing on how to benchmark and how to be a productive -- get more productivity in our environment.

But it is a process we're going through, and we are trying our best to kind of incorporate all this into the budget process.

So yes, I think there's a lot of effort in our organization to do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I recognize that.  I want to understand how that translates into dollars that are reflected in your application.

MS. YOUNG:  Sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is it's these six initiatives you have presented in a number of places where this is embedded savings, as I recall it.

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, that's accurate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that fair?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there something else I don't see that there's another set of embedded savings?

MS. CLARK:  Yes.  There are things we haven't discussed that we inherently built into our budget.  So things like -- if we have capital project, for example, like one of the projects I could talk to is an upgrade of our PowerStream operations cyber and security.

As a result of that, we are saving almost $388,000 over the period of '16 to '20 that we have already built into our budget as hard savings.  That's an example of one area that we've just built-in as OM&A savings.

And there's others, too, but that's just an example.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The big ones -- going back to the stuff on pages 9 through 12, these are the large ones, as I understand it.  These are the ones where you've demonstrated the embedded savings.

Just talking about the first one, this is the customer information system.  Am I correct that that went live in the spring, I believe?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And has it been implemented?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, it has been.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So why would this be -- that's not really a productivity initiative, then, for the test period; you've already done it.  You may have made some savings going forward, but it's not really a custom IR test period initiative.

MR. MACDONALD:  I would say the latter part of your comment is -- this system comes with great promise of allowing us do things more productivity.  So we plan to harvest those benefits.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  They won't be incremental in the test period.  This is not one of the things you're doing in the test period that's going to have an incremental -- it's something you've done in 2015 and may persist in savings through the test period?

MR. MACDONALD:  The persistence would be realizing the benefits.  So yes, I agree.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So these are things as -- in 2015, we have the six items here, and then there's other items that you say are already built into the budget when you created your budget.

And these are things that at least as of today, you know you're doing; am I correct?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I'd assume you don't stop continuously improving with those initiatives.  You're going to continue to seek in 2016 new things you didn't know about in 2015, to continually drive efficiencies in your business; am I correct?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.  As I mentioned earlier, we have a project management office.  We have a small team focused ongoing into departments and helping them review processes and find better ways to do things.

But I want to be clear that we still consider ourselves early in this journey.  We're pushing our departments hard to do these projects, but also identify the benefits.  It's not easy always to -- but I agree with you, we won't stop striving to find more efficiencies.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Where would I find the budget item for 2016 for 2020 that comes with savings that you just can't project today?  Things you don't know that you're going to do today, but are these continuous improvement items that will come?  Where would I find that in the budget?

MR. MACDONALD:  Do you mean –- there's sort of two questions there.  Is it the cost of the project management office, or how do you see those savings?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are the savings that are going to come from efficiency improvements over the next five years you can't forecast today, because you don't know about them yet, you haven't done the initiative, it's something not on your radar, obviously.  Where will I see those in the budgets?

MR. MACDONALD:  Mr. Barrett can explain, but we -- it's a good question, and those things, you can't see them in line attempts in the budgets for five years, but we did in our evidence have an empirical analysis to demonstrate that they are there, so if you can explain that, Mr. Barrett.

MR. BARRETT:  So that was the approach we took.  This productivity, as I say, is relatively new to us.  We tried to come up with a way to do this.  You know, obviously our line departments didn't prepare two budgets, a what-if and what their actual budget is.  So it's very hard to -- you know, it's easy to look at individual projects like these projects and you -- our project management office can identify potential savings, but to actually measure at a high level the savings that are reflected across this, the only approach I could come up with was this analysis approach, where we actually took our 2013 last Board-approved and we did a status quo type of analysis as to what would our costs be if we weren't doing these things, and then we then compared that to our actual forecasted cost, and the goal was to try and identify that we were at least obtaining savings, productivity savings, of at least what would be realized under the IPI minus X factors.  That was what our analysis -- that was the approach we took.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I recognize that that shows the built-in savings.

MR. BARRETT:  Right.  It shows that there are built-in savings of a certain amount, but you're right, it does not implicitly address or factor in unknowns.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just give you an example.  So if you do something in 2016 that saves you money, the project management office finds a way to build efficiencies in something, so your actual budget will be less, all things equal, that you're seeking before the Board today.  There is a savings amount.  You'd agree with me?  We don't know what it is, but there is a savings amount.

MR. MACDONALD:  There would be, but you're correct, you can't see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if there is a savings amount under the -- your -- under your plan, that goes to the shareholder.

MS. YOUNG:  I would say there is an element in this five-year plan of both risks and opportunities that weren't explicit in the actual OM&A build-up.  So I think, you know, we do have costs that come up that we don't expect.  We might have some efficiencies come up that we don't expect.  I think, you know, on either end we did not specify those in the application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to page 66.  This is a Mr. Shepherd -- or our -- the SEC part 1 compendium.  It's the Hydro One decision.  I just want to take you to the last couple lines here and...  Sorry...

MR. BARRETT:  Jay, can you repeat the page number, please.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It's page 66 --


MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Page 66.  This is under the second lack of externally imposed incentives, and this is what it says at the bottom of the page:

"It is not sufficient to embed savings in cost forecasts.  As already noted, the OEB custom IR is an incentive rate-setting approach designed to drive efficiencies.  Benefits from explicit, objectively determined productivity efficiency adjustments such as stretch factors include mimicking competitive market conditions, sharing anticipating savings with ratepayers upfront, and facilitating a more outcomes-based approach to regulation."

From what you've told me today, am I correct, you didn't do that, because all you've done is embed savings in the cost forecast?

MS. YOUNG:  Well, I would say for specific programs we expect to get some efficiencies.  We are at risk if those efficiencies aren't achieved in the programs that we've identified, so there is some of that in the application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But am I correct, just reading again from this, your savings that you've built in are embedded savings, and I understand if those don't materialize as you expect, you're at risk, and the same goes the opposite direction if more savings are drawn out.  But that's all you have; am I correct?  It's just an embedded savings in the cost forecast, correct?

MS. YOUNG:  The only thing I can think of is the -- you know, when we set a goal of 1 percent increase, there are some costs that -- that were at risk, and we've, you know, we think they will be inflationary increases in those areas, and we'll have to find a way to mitigate those costs.

So in that way we have incorporated in our application some efficiencies that we will struggle to get and might have to look in other areas to get those efficiencies, so I think that speaks to some of that.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yeah, we did spend a lot of time on this issue, and, you know, you're doing projects all the time.  You're trying to improve productivity.  Projects are coming and going.  There's dozens -- we have dozens at any one time happening, projects.  It's really -- when you -- practically, it's hard to identify the savings from all those projects, at the same time as Ms. Young said there's new costs coming, there could be new regulatory requirements, for example, new costs.  So we did -- we came up with this empirical analysis that Mr. Barrett mentioned, use it to try to provide evidence that those productivity savings are baked into our forecast, although you can't see it project name by project name.  That would be very difficult to do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to page 14.  I want to ask you about staffing.  This is a version of your Appendix 2K.

MR. MACDONALD:  We're on the --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, back to the --


MR. MACDONALD:  Certainly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- K1.3 compendium.  This is your latest, 2K.  Am I correct?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we look at 2015, I'm seeing you're forecasting 567.45 FTEs.  Am I correct?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that a year-end number or an average number?

MS. CLARK:  That's a year-end number.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we go to page 15, we had asked you in this interrogatory what the vacancy rate that you're using, and you said 6.6 FTEs.  Do you see that on part B?

MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct?

MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I know there was a discussion at the technical conference about this, and I'm going to summarize what I think was said, and you can correct me if I'm wrong, but my understanding from that discussion was what you were saying is what -- how you came to that number is you took the -- your average vacancy rate for 2011 to 2014 and then adjusted it to create sort of an average individual?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, so just to clarify, the -- we took the average vacancy rate and then converted it to OM&A dollars, and then determined the dollars and worked back the FTE so that we could bake that vacancy rate into our budget.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there a similar adjustment made to capital?

MS. CLARK:  So that vacancy rate's a total OM&A capital, and we took only the OM&A portion and baked that in, so 66 percent of those FTEs relate to OM&A and then the remaining relate to capital.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And -- all right.  So -- and then am I understanding the 6.6 was used for 2016 to 2020 each year?

MS. CLARK:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And if we go back to page 14 -- I just want to understand how this works.  When I read, say, 2015 and it says you will have a total of 567.45 FTEs, is that minus the 6.6 --


MS. CLARK:  So the --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- vacancies?

MS. CLARK:  No, the vacancy rate is based -- is baked into the actual OM&A dollars, not the comp figures, so it's actually a separate line in our OM&A.  So as Mr. Shepherd mentioned this morning, that division corporate, that's where we bake in our vacancy rate.  So it's not on compensation numbers in general.  It's per this table.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you help me understand where that -- where does that flow through?  Where would I actually see a reduction of 6.6 times compensation dollars?

MS. CLARK:  You actually see it in your -- in the cost driver analysis, so this is just the compensation numbers.  The compensation numbers flow into the cost drivers.  In that cost driver analysis there is a line, the corporate business unit.  That's where we include our vacancy rate.  So there is a reduction in that business unit of approximate -- the cost equivalent to 6.6 FTEs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you for clarifying that.

If I can ask you to turn to page 16 -- sorry, if we can stay on 15 for a second.  And my understanding is you had eight vacancies between January and June.  Am I correct?

MS. CLARK:  Yeah, that's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So is it fair to forecast then that you would have been expecting, if you're forecasting over the full year, sixteen for the year?

MS. CLARK:  So that eight again, that is in relation to OM&A and capital.  So if I take 66 percent of that, that's five FTEs as at June.  I don't think it's fair to forecast it at fourteen.  How did you come up with fourteen?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I said sixteen, sorry.

MS. CLARK:  Sorry, sixteen.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That was just done -- that was just a half year, and I went to the full year --


MS. CLARK:  Oh, you simplistically got it.  Not necessarily, because it's based on positions.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So when I go to page 16 and I see five -- as of June 30th, the total number of FTEs is 537.4.  Do you see that?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we then go back to the 2K form of the 15 and 567 -- that's about 38 unfilled positions as of the end of the year; am I correct?

MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Have you filled those 38 positions?  Where are we?  Are we still going to be at about 6.6 at the end of the year?  It seems like you have a lot of positions to fill in a half a year.

MS. CLARK:  As I mentioned at the technical conference, a lot of that vacancy rate related to summer students.  So a number of summer students were not included in that.  But our current vacancy rate as of September is 15 FTEs, and that's just due to retirements, and we plan to fill those by the end of the year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you're going to be at 6.6?

MS. CLARK:  Approximately.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So while you're using 6.6, which was the 2011 to '14 average --


MS. CLARK: Right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- in forecasting that forward, you've made no adjustment that you actually more employees -- you're not doing it on a percentage total of your work force?

MS. CLARK:  No, we based it on average, the last three-year average, that's what we -- or four-year average.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then why would it not be more appropriate to use a percentage of your FTEs?  I would assume as more –- you have more people in the company, as you do over that period of time, you're going to have more vacancies.

MS. CLARK:  Well, we don't -- when we did our budget build, we looked at all the head count going forward.  But we don't look at the retirement specifically -- like, we don't calculate vacancy rate that way.  It was harder for us to do that, in terms of FTE.

We looked at our past, and that's how we forecast the future e, because the number of retirements seem to be pretty consistent year-over-year and the new people that are leaving, we factored that in.

So it's hard to predict and the best way we could come up with that was the last three-year average.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Wouldn't a percentage of your total workforce be a better indicator?

MS. CLARK:  We didn't go that way, so I can't say if it would be better or not.  But that was the best information we had in terms of doing a vacancy rate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

I would like to ask about vegetation management, and am I correct that this is one of those I think what you classified it as an extraordinary cost driver in your application; that is your language.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 18 of the compendium, this is the second item on the part B here.  And am I correct that this is your vegetation management budget from 2013 to 2020?  Am I correct?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in your -- you were spending -- you spent $1.5 million roughly in 2013 and the plan is by 2020, you're going to spend $4.8 million a year, correct?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my rough calculation is over the five years, you're planning to spend $18.7 million on vegetation management, or 3.74 million a year?  Is that fair?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Subject to check, I would agree with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this is a significant amount increase.  A simple calculation of 2013 to 2015 is you were spending about 1.76 million a year?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I would agree it's a significant increase to our vegetation management programs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding of the evidence at a high level is this is borne a lot out of the Christmas 2013 ice storm.  Afterwards, you undertook studies and changed your vegetation management policies as a result of that, and thus the budgets are increasing because of that.  Am I correct?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the CIMA review was a big part of that?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  The CIMA review was a big part of that, in support of the changes we're making to the vegetation management program.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do I understand that you've primarily moved from a three-year to a two-year trimming cycle for rear yards in heavily-treed areas?  Is that the big reason for the increase?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  No.  In the aftermath of the ice storm, we recognized that a lot of the tree and vegetation related damage was -- occurred in rear lots and heavily forested areas.  As a result, we have moved to a two-year cycle, specifically in the rear lot areas.

Going forward from 2016 onwards, the increases in the vegetation management program pertain more to the recommendations made in the CIMA report, which have to do with moving to a blue-skying approach to tree trimming, removal of hazard trees, achieving greater cutbacks, as well as vegetation management around PowerStream service lines on private property.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it's not the actual -- the increase is not primarily driven by the moving from three years to two years?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  No, the move from three years to two years occurred in 2015, and there were cost increases due to that move.

But the increases we're talking about from 2016 onwards, which is on the order of half a million a year, those are due to more the blue-skying and hazard tree removal, and tree trimming of service lines on customer property.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's first discuss the move, the 2015 move from three years to two years.  Was that actually recommended by CIMA?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  No, this was -- actually, that came out of a review that was done after the ice storm, and that review recommended that PowerStream review its vegetation management practices.  And again, that was because of the severe impact of vegetation in the rear lot and heavily treed areas.

As a result of that recommendation, PowerStream undertook a review of the its vegetation management practices in rear lot area.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is the Navigant review?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes.  And we concluded that a three year cycle really wasn't getting us to the point where we needed to be, in terms of achieving effective vegetation control in rear lot areas.

And as a result of that, we decided to put more emphasis on tree trimming in rear lot areas, which is why we moved to a two-year cycle.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  With respect to the CIMA-initiated or confirmed changes that you're making from 2016 to 2020, I think the other things you were talking about -- if we turn to page 19, I just want to ask you about it.  This is the table of contents from the CIMA review.  My understanding is a big part of that is they looked at best practices at other utilities.  Am I correct that that's how they drew a lot of these things out?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  They looked at several things.  One, they looked at the weather patterns and forecasted weather changes and weather patterns.  In their study, they talked about the high risk of the kind of severe weather patterns we see, like the December 2013 ice storm.  The probability is high that we're going to see more frequent severe weather patterns, and they also looked at vegetation management best practices.

They talked specifically about storm hardening practices.  Some of those are capital based, but some of them are OM&A based, which would be the vegetation management practices.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We'll talk about storm hardening part on the next panel.  I just wanted to understand the vegetation management aspect.

One of the things about the best practices that CIMA looked at, the thing that stood out to me is I see no other Ontario utilities.  They didn't look at any of the other Ontario based utilities, who, I would have assumed, would be the most -- the utilities that are closest to PowerStream in many respects, in terms of the geography, the weather, the type of system, the age.

Was there a reason why there was no Ontario utilities that were looked at?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I would be guessing if I said why CIMA didn't look the a Ontario utilities, and didn't specifically refer to Ontario utilities in their study.  I think they looked at utilities that have undergone reviews of their practices, and they're implementing storm-hardening solutions on their systems.

I think if we're looking at severe weather patterns it's not unique to Ontario.  It's something that's happening across North America, that a number of utilities across North America are concerned about.

So I think it's quite reasonable to also look south of the border at what our friends in the United States are doing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I'm not saying you shouldn't.  I'm just trying to understand -- it seems quite surprising to me that there are a lot of LDCs in this province.  You didn't -- the review doesn't look at any of them, which would seem to be closest to -- would be the closest comparables to PowerStream.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Perhaps the answer is that Ontario maybe we're lagging behind the U.S. in terms of looking at storm-hardening practices.  Maybe they're -- I don't think there is a lot of information out there right now in terms of what Ontario utilities are doing in terms of storm-hardening.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you --


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I know -- sorry.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Go ahead, sorry.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  And this is just anecdotal evidence and conversations with colleagues from other utilities.  I know it's something that's uppermost in people's minds.  A lot of us are talking about this, but I don't think there's a lot of hard evidence out there right now in terms of what other Ontario utilities are doing.

Having said that, I think that what CIMA put forward, they put forward reasonable recommendations which PowerStream considered very seriously.  I will say that, you know, the issue of cost is uppermost in our minds.  We were concerned about costs because ultimately, you know, these costs are borne by ratepayers.

The cost estimates that CIMA put forward for the enhanced vegetation management program were in the region of $5-and-a-half million.  PowerStream looked at those recommendations and we scaled back on those estimates because we recognized that that's huge, to increase our vegetation management program by $5-and-a-half million.  So we did a couple things.  One is that we scaled back those estimates by looking at our existing vegetation management practices where we have got the three-year cycle, and we looked at how we could incorporate the practices like blue-skying and hazard tree removals on top of that to achieve efficiencies so that we're not spending the types of dollars that CIMA was talking about.

What we also decided to do, as you'll see in our application, is that we decided to ramp up the program, so we didn't do a sudden exponential increase in that spend, which is why over the five-year period from '16 to '20 it's in the order of half a million dollars increase every year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And did you -- when you were determining that you were going to ramp up to the amount we talked -- there is a significant increase regardless -- did you talk to your customers about that and say, "These are the benefits that you get from it"?  Did you ask them if they were willing to pay a couple million dollars extra a year for increased vegetation management for these benefits?  Was that -- did you consult with your customers?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  We didn't ask customers specifically about vegetation management benefits and the costs that would be associated with that.  Indirectly we did customer engagement, but it had more to do with our distribution system plan, which of course talks more about capital improvements to the system.

So through that engagement we do know that reliability is a concern to our customers.  You know, we do hear from our customers, and particularly customers in the business community, when they're not happy about the reliability that they're experiencing.  We do know that the December ice storm was -- there was a lot of hardship to a portion of our customer base.  We had customers that were out for
-- without power for several days.

The recommendations that we've put forward or proposals we're putting forward for vegetation management program, while they do incur an increase in cost, we feel that they are prudent because it's a question of risk management.  We feel there is greater risk in future from severe weather patterns such as the ice storm, and that's supported by the CIMA report.  And we feel that as utility managers it's appropriate for us to look at solutions for how we can protect our system better from those types of events.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to page 23 of our compendium.  My understanding, aside from moving from the three- to the two-year cycle in some aspects, you had originally run a five-year cycle and you've moved to a three-year cycle.  Am I correct?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That is correct.  Our vegetation management program has undergone an evolution over the last few years.  Prior to 2012 we were on a quasi-five-year cycle, and I say a quasi-five-year cycle because while in name it was meant to be proactive, in actual fact we found that it was a more reactive program because we were reacting more to trouble spots and doing tree-trimming in trouble spots, rather than doing a real proactive vegetation management program.

So in 2012 we reviewed our vegetation management practices, and at the same time we were also putting a lot more emphasis on our asset management programs as a whole.  It wasn't just from the capital standpoint, but we were also putting a lot more emphasis on things like proactive inspection and maintenance programs.

So vegetation management, it was logical also for us to look at vegetation management and ask ourselves the question, how can we be more proactive in terms of --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I don't -- we'll be here all day.  I just wanted to know, you've moved from a five- to a three-year cycle, and that was -- and my understanding, the answer is yes.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Sorry for the editorializing.  Yes, we did move from a five-year to three-year cycle.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go to 23, this is from the CIMA report, and this is a fall 2014 when it was drafted, my understanding.  And if I could take you from five lines from the bottom it said:

"To date the actual cycle clearing time for the whole service area is the four- to five-year range.  However, that is expected to improve in the near term as resources are allocated to achieve the three-year cycle target."

So here we are essentially at the end of the 2015.  Have you hit the three-year cycle?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, we achieved a three-year cycle by the end of 2014.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you.  And if we could turn to page 24 here.  And in this interrogatory you were asked to provide your vegetation management budget, the estimated lines that you're maintaining in kilometres and the dollars per kilometre metric, and as I look at this over the -- if I look at the last row, what I see is between 2011 and 20 -- from 2012 to 2014, actually, it's going down, so you're getting more efficient, and then I see it go completely in the opposite direction from 2014 to 2020.  I see you're clearing 2014 about $2,100 a kilometre, and by 2020 it skyrockets to about 5. -- 5,000 -- $5,200 a kilometre.  That's a dramatic increase.  You'd agree with me?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I would agree with you on a dollar per kilometre basis it is a significant increase.  But I would like to elaborate on that --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I'm going to ask how is that continuous improvement, so...

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I think what you see -- and you rightly pointed out that in the period from approximately 2012 through 2014 on a dollar per kilometre basis those costs actually decrease, and I think that reflects the fact that we moved from -- we were transitioning from a five-year program to a three-year program, and we gained some, you know, some effectiveness and efficiencies by doing so because, as you can see, we moved from doing 500 kilometres -- of linear kilometres per year to 840 kilometres per year in 2014 with a consequent decrease in the dollars per kilometre.

When we look at the period from 2016 through 2020 what that dollar per kilometre figure represents is we're increasing the dollars spent because, as we've talked about, we are increasing the vegetation management cost by approximately half a million dollars per year.

What isn't changing, however, or what's not changing significantly is the linear kilometres, because we've only got so many linear kilometres of line on our system.  So in fact, what's happening, though, is that the program is being intensified.

So we're clearing the same amount of kilometres in terms of line kilometres but we're doing more vegetation management within those areas that we're trimming every year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now --


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  And I think the dollar per kilometre figure doesn't quite reflect that.  It doesn't reflect the additional intensity of the program on a year-by-year basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So how can you satisfy the Board and your consumers that if you're spending all this much more money on vegetation management, that you're actually doing -- you're not only, I guess, doing more vegetation management, but you're being efficient, you're being productive in doing it?  Where would we see that?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I think I would answer that by saying -- I'll go back to my earlier commentary, when I was talking about the estimates in the CIMA study, and the fact that we have revised those estimates to something we think is more prudent, based on our tree trimming cycles and the fact we're going to incorporate the additional measures as we do with the tree trimming cycles.

But I think this is all about managing risk.  We've identified risks to our system, and I think the ice storm brought home to us the consequences of those risks.  And I think what we've put forward here is a prudent approach to managing those risks and mitigating the impact of future storms.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It's not mitigating future storms; it's the impact of those future storms?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That's correct, mitigating the impact of future storms.  On the productive side, if I could comment on that briefly, in our vegetation management programs -- in fact all our asset management programs --productivity is something we're very cognizant of.

We are always looking for ways to be more efficient and more productive at what we do.  I think some of that is reflected, if you go back to prior to 2012 and the changes we made in going from a five-year program to a three-year program.  And as you see the numbers in the table in the AMPCO interrogatory, there were some efficiency gains there.

For example, we tender our tree trimming contracts every three years, which ensures we're getting a competitive price for tree trimming because most of it is done by contractors.

So productivity and efficiency is something that is always uppermost in our minds.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can quickly turn you to page 33, and the chart at the bottom, this is the total -- my understanding is this is the storm hardening costs; am I correct?  These are the costs related to the storm-hardening --


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I believe it is, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so we would agree you're spending -- and we'll get into the specifics of the capital in the plan, too.  But in terms of just sort of the general picture, you're spending a lot of money now on this issue.  And I think the reason we talked about is to mitigate the impact of storms; am I correct?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That's right.  We have identified risks to our system, and as utility managers, we've put forward programs on spending that we feel are prudent to manage those risks.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to page 39, this is the storm damage budget cost.  I want to understand why, with all the new spending you're doing, why am I not seeing a decrease in the amount that you're budgeting for storm damage?

I would assume that if you are spending money to mitigate against it, this is the part of the value equation customers are getting.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I don't think you're going to see those costs decrease, because if we are anticipating that storm activity is going to be more severe and frequent in future, and we're making attempts to mitigate the impacts of those storms, the intent really is to try to stabilize reliability and stabilize those OM&A costs pertaining to storm damage.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So essentially, and can I ask –- when you talk about increasing frequency, are you talking about December 2013-style ice storm magnitude?  Or are we talking about the general storms that you get in the winter that cause damage?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I think it's both of those, and I think –- let me put it another way.  I think if we didn't make these kinds of capital investments and these increased OM&A expenditures going forward, I think what would happen is that reliability and customer service would suffer, because we wouldn't be putting things in place to better protect the system against these types of events.

Our own experience going back a couple years, we had the December 2013 ice storm, and in 2014 we had a microburst on Warden Avenue one day in July that knocked down fourteen poles.  In 2015, we had unique weather patterns which led to a spate of pole fires.  So, you know, for the past three years, each year we've experienced significant damage to our system as a result of weather patterns.  And our experience is supported by studies such as the CIMA study, which talks about the frequency and the increased frequency of those events in future.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:   So when I look at your actuals for 2014 and 2015 -- or let's say 2014, I actually see you're below budget.

When you talk about another –- you had another issue the next year, actually your total storm damage was less than you had budgeted.  I don't see it going up.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That is correct.  But we have to make a distinction here, because these are OM&A storm damage costs and depending on the impact of a storm, some of the costs to do with repair and restoration of the system, some of those costs go to OM&A and some of those costs will go to capital.

So the costs that get capitalized are the costs associated with replacement of major assets, such as poles, transformers, switchgear.  With the December ice storm, what we mostly were doing was repairing lines that had come down.  Those costs were primarily OM&A costs.  Whereas if we had suffered things like broken poles and broken cross arms, transformer damage, those costs would be capitalized.

So there is a difference between the OM&A storm cost and capital storm cost, depending on the type of damage that is sustained on the system.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When it comes to the ice storm, the large -- those types of storms, what does -- the work that you're now doing on tree trimming –- sorry, vegetation management, would that have materially prevented the impact of that ice storm, if you had that put in place?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  It's very difficult for us to estimate the precise impact of any type of weather event. As I say, with the December 2013 ice storm, in some ways at PowerStream we say we were lucky in the sense that what came down -- when the trees limbs came down and the trees came down, they tore down power lines, but they did not tear down poles.

Had we had a couple of more millimetres of ice accumulation on our lines, with the increased loading on our lines, we very well could have seen more severe damage on the system.

So it's very difficult for us to precisely say what the impact of any storm will be, which is why that's such a difficult question to answer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I recognize it's a difficult question, but you're spending a lot of money.  So I'm trying to –- that's a big reason coming out of that are those types of storms.

So I am trying to understand if you did all the work that you're doing now, if it's not going to make a material impact, then are customers really getting any value for money.

My understanding is that's a once in a 15, 17 year storm, the 2013 storm.  I'm trying to understand --


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, actually CIMA does say that those types of events will occur more frequently.  It's one of the things they talk about in their study.

Obviously, we're putting forward these costs and programs because we think that it will help in future to mitigate the impact of such events as the December ice storm.

I would say that had we had a vegetation management program, to the type of extent that we are proposing now, prior to December 2013, then I think the impacts would have been much less severe and our customers would have benefited accordingly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that -- putting aside the money that is now being put into storm hardening and vegetation management, you're still eligible under the plan that you're setting out to come in for a Z factor, if it meets the Z factor criteria for storm damage?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  And I just -- talking about operating and maintenance sort of more generally, as we talked about in the first panel a big part of this application is that it's a large capital project that you're planning to undertake for the next six years really, starting in 2015.  Am I correct?

MR. MACDONALD:  The capital, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's a big driver of the plan in front of us.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to understand the interplay between that and the O&M budget, the operations and maintenance budget.

If I can ask you to turn to page 25, the chart on page 25, I want to look at the reactive O&M, so it's the sort of second half of the table.  And why am I not seeing significant decreases in the reactive O&M budget here?  I would have assumed if you were fixing all these faulty equipment and were spending on this capital money that one of the benefits is, you know, there is less reactive maintenance that you have to do.  Can you help me understand that?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  The answer to that is that the assets are aging faster than we're replacing them, so even though we have got significant capital programs in place to replace assets, it doesn't match the rate at which those assets are aging, and of course as they age the failure rate increases as well.

This is why between 2015 and 2019 you don't see reactive replacement costs decreasing, but we do say that commencing in 2020 we do expect to see those costs commence to decrease as the impact of our proactive replacement programs starts to catch up.

If we wanted to reduce that reactive replacement projected cost, then we would have to be spending a lot more capital than we are proposing at the moment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So ratepayers shouldn't see the benefit, at least in the reactive O&M -- or I should say they shouldn't see a reduction in that amount until after 2020, after the plan.  Did I understand that's what you were saying?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I think that they would -- they shouldn't expect to see a decrease in reactive replacements prior to this forecast period, 2016 to 2020.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we're back here in 2021 and we're having the same discussion, that's when we will see it?  Is that sort of fair?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I think what we're seeing here is we'll expect to see those reactive replacements decrease after 2020.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If I can ask you just two short areas.  If I want to take you -- if I can ask you to turn to page 4 and 5, and this is your corporate scorecard.  It's more of a general question I want to understand about implementation of the plan.

As I read a lot of the measures on your corporate scorecard -- you don't have to -- this is for more of a high-level question -- some of them are very specific to the year.  Would you agree with me?  You know, you're...

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, depending on which ones they are, yeah, some of them are specific to the year, some of them are ongoing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I want to understand, so now we're in the world of the plan.  I want to understand how the plan before the Board, whatever approvals the Board gives you, are we going to see that reflected in the corporate scorecard, the things that are driving the results that your executive management team or senior leadership team is looking at?  Are we going to see that there?  Will we expect to see specific metrics in the PowerStream scorecard in 2016 as a result of a Board decision in this case?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, I believe these get updated every year, as we mentioned this morning, and so they're dynamic, and they kind of reflect what we're -- projects we're working on, and so, yes, I definitely think they will be updated and have components of this application.

MR. MACDONALD:  I mentioned as well, Mr. Rubenstein, that -- sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, I would mention as well that a number of those are the outcome measures, and those are already here, have been for some time, items like reliability, outage duration, outage frequency, those --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm also more interested in costs, so you are proposing a significant capital budget, and, you know, you have to implement that budget or ratepayers are overpaying, you would agree with me?  If you don't actually do the capital work that you get approved?

MR. MACDONALD:  Sorry, can you move closer to your mic?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  You would agree with me that if the Board approves a capital budget and you actually don't deliver on that capital budget, you don't do the work for whatever reason, you can't do it, ratepayers overpay.  So it's important that you actually do the work that you get approved to do?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, the RRFE does contemplate a capital tracking process, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand the Board scorecard does that, which -- I think there's a -- but I'm asking about feeding into your management to make sure they have -- that those incentives are aligned with what they're doing.  Am I correct that a portion of their compensation is based on a corporate scorecard?

MS. YOUNG:  So, yeah, I mean, this is a -- this does -- it is the beginning of sort of how we -- our goals as an organization, and we want to make sure that compensation is in line with that.  And even in the 2015 you'll notice under -- in the area of processes we have percentage of capital projects completed.  So as Mr. Macdonald has mentioned, already we're starting to see them in our balance scorecard and I'm sure they'll develop as we go forward and make sure they're aligned with what we're doing here.  So I think there is already components of that and making sure that we -- we do what we say we're going to do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when is the 2016 one?  When would that -- what's the time -- how does this work when you develop the 2016 version?

MS. YOUNG:  I believe it's earlier on in the year.  We usually have a strategic planning session with our board early -- so it will be early in 2016 where we will review these type of items.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The last thing I want to ask you about is the working capital amount.  And am I correct that you are applying on the 7.5 percent, is the Board default, the new default, that's what you're utilizing for your application --


MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And Mr. Macdonald, we had a discussion at the technical conference about this, and my understanding is -- this came out of the untranscribed presentation day -- you were going to do a lead lag study, then you decided -- I think you got -- you started doing some work and you realized your number was close enough to 7.5.  It was -- you weren't going to -- you weren't going to do it?  Do I have that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  So basically, yes, between the time we prepared our rate proposal and the time that -- I think after filing our application to the Board, definitely after filing our application, the Board changed their default working capital allowance.  We had some issues in terms of, we have never done a complete lead lag study, so -- and time was an issue.

The other issue we had was we'd just put in a new time -- a new customer billing system, which went live I think in May, and you know, there are a number of changes in that system, and that's a big driver of your lead lag is related to your billing system, your billing lags, your collections, and some of those things change.

So we really didn't have any hard data to use, but we still need to do something to satisfy ourselves that the 7.5 percent working capital allowance was reasonable for PowerStream.

And so we had some preliminary work done.  It basically leveraged off some preliminary work we did back before -- back in I think 2011 in preparation for our 2013 cost of service, and once again the Board had changed the working capital allowance, and we had done enough preliminary work that it looked reasonable and we accepted the Board's number, and that was the purpose of this as well, was a number for the Board -- the Board was putting out there as generic value, was that reasonable for PowerStream.  In the end we looked at it, did enough work based on the limited amount of information in our situation that we could to satisfy ourselves it was a reasonable number, and that's what we did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding, we had asked you in the technical conference to produce that preliminary analysis that you had gotten from Navigant, and it's what's -- this is JTC1.3, and as I read it, it actually says that their preliminary analysis showed that when you do all the changes it comes to 7.3, not 7.5.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, and there's a couple of things I would like to point out about that.  First and foremost is that is the final after we wrote a monthly billing in 2017.  I think that's the first point that's relevant.

The second point that's relevant, that there are some built-in assumptions about our new system, so we're hoping to get some shorter -- we're expecting to get some shorter billing lags and whatnot, so this builds in some -- builds in the ultimate or the ideal improvements we're going to see on the new system, which are yet to be realized, or proven, I guess, is the better way of doing it.  We're hoping to get and we're working towards getting them, but that remains to be seen at this point.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I should be --


MR. BARRETT:  To be confirmed.  So basically we looked at this.  So I think the point I'm making is this is --represent monthly billing which starts in 2017, so 2016 would be a different number.  And I think what I calculated from this slide when I looked at it was that -- yes, that essentially they indicate -- if you look at the first -- if you look at the 10.69 percent amount, that represents updated on what's currently accepted by the Board as the best practices, I believe there's -- it says here revenue weighting versus customer weightings.  That was an updating of the original preliminary work done previously.  And if you updated for that, you would come to 10.69 percent. 

You then take an update and assume you're that billing all customers monthly, instead of the 330,000 residential customers that are billed bi-monthly, that you'll further reduce your revenue lags and that will get you down to 8.94 percent.  So that essentially is a difference of 1.75 percent. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can short-circuit this, I shouldn't read into this essentially you did the preliminary numbers, you came to a preliminary number that shows you less than the default, so you didn't go forward with the study.  I could be cynical and --


MR. BARRETT:  I would read this was preliminary work that assumed ideal conditions from our new system, that what it indicated to me -- and that's why I was getting in the math here –- is that if you add back the 1.75 percent differential for monthly billing, you would come up with 9.05 percent for 2016, before we adopt monthly billing.

And then if you assume for the remaining four years, 2017 to 2020, we get this ultimate 7.3, which would be, I think, the lowest the Board has seen.  If we were able to achieve that, you would have an average across the period of the five years of 7.65 percent, and we felt that was close enough to the 7.5 percent that we would accept the 7.5 percent. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Chair, those are my questions. 

I should have mentioned this at the beginning before I started, but I've been asking questions on behalf of SEC, but also on behalf of Ms. Grice for the -- asking questions on behalf of AMPCO.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thanks.  Ms. Girvan, I believe you're up next.  Do you want to start right after the break? 

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we do that.  We'll return at 3:35. 
--- Recess taken at 3:17 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:37 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Please be seated.  Ms. Girvan.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, just before I ask my questions I just want to preface it with a brief statement.  And I would just like to say that the Consumers Council of Canada, we acknowledge that the Board has made a decision with respect to the proposed merger between PowerStream, Enersource, Horizon, and the acquisition of Hydro One Brampton, and that decision was that it's out of scope in assessing PowerStream's application and setting rates for the next five years.


We just want to be clear, like others, we do not believe that it should be out of scope.  We believe the Board has an obligation in setting just and reasonable rates to consider the best available information and to consider whether LDC costs forecasts will be reflective of the costs of providing distribution services to its customers.


To ignore the impact of the merger in our view is unfair to PowerStream's customers, and the result is they may be paying rates over the next five or ten years that are too high and don't reflect a realistic view of the cost of providing distribution services.


And we just wanted to be clear upfront that we believe the merger is relevant for setting rates going forward.  If the merger occurs the current forecasts aren't appropriate, and we recognize the Board's decision but we just wanted to be clear when we begin our questions that that's our position.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We were -- understood that from your submissions when they were asked for, Ms. Girvan.  I'm not sure what placing all that argument on the record again does for us at this point in time.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah.  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, though, what does it do for us at this point --


MS. GIRVAN:  I guess because I'm trying to ask questions, and it's awkward not being able to ask those questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We don't find that it would be awkward.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Okay.  Thank you.

Sorry, now I can't see.  Okay.  So panel, do you believe that sitting here today that your five-year cost-of-service forecast that form part of your application are reflective of what you'll need to provide service to your customers?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  And do you believe the rates you're proposing today represent an appropriate balancing of the interests of your ratepayers and shareholders?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, we do.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

One thing I wanted to clear up is, you were talking to, I think it was Mr. Shepherd, about the reason that you came in early.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  And you said because you had failing returns, I believe.  And then I think later on -- and this is just -- I was confused about this, but you also said that you were reaching your allowed returns, so I wanted to straighten that out.

MR. MACDONALD:  Sure.  I tend to talk too fast.  What I meant to say was falling returns.  So -- actually, it is -- is it okay to use Mr. Shepherd's compendium?  Is the --


MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.  My only question is I think you said two different things.

MR. MACDONALD:  I just wanted to explain what I mean.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. MACDONALD:  So in that larger compendium -- I'm on page 15, and if you look at the column for 2015 and work your way down, you get to net income, and below there you get to the -- there are we anticipated, and we have a term, which is a made-in-PowerStream term we call real-time rate base.  We've discussed that before.  That's -- that's -- it's fictitious, but it's assuming that you would put the calculations for that year into rate base and recalculate your return.

So that's what I meant by falling returns, declining returns.  So we -- and to the left -- so I'm looking at the number 6.1 percent, which is well below the allowed, which is above 9.  Even 2014, which was one year after our rebasing 2013, the return at the time was forecast 8.8.  It turned out to be a little higher.  But the key number there is -- and this is why we use this outlook, was we're expecting this year to have a return of 6.1 percent.  And that's the real driver.


You know, we don't want to -- we just don't want to have returns that low, so --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  No, I just -- I thought you had said that you were reaching your allowable return.  I thought that's what you said --


MR. MACDONALD:  I'm trying -- I'm taking another attempt to explain it better.  So this is the analysis we do, and that number -- and we update this periodically.  That number would cause us to want to have our rates --


MS. GIRVAN:  So there is a difference between real-time rate base ROE and --


MR. MACDONALD:  Real-time --


MS. GIRVAN:  -- actual ROE?


MR. MACDONALD:  -- real-time is our own --


MS. GIRVAN:  And actual ROE?  Sorry, I'm just trying to understand the difference.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, real-time is something that we do at PowerStream.  It's our own calculation.  So as I mentioned, it just assumes that the rate base -- sorry, the capital additions for the year go into rate base in the calculation of return, which doesn't happen in real life during an IRM period.  So it's just, it's sort of modelling -- well, that's what it does.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So if you can turn to your update, and that's section A, tab 1, Schedule 1.  It's the 15-page update that you filed that was in the binder with your interrogatory answers.  I know we're having trouble wading through the different pieces of evidence in this case.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, we have it.

MS. GIRVAN:  So I just wanted to -- and I think we heard this this morning -- that on page 2 the updated revenue requirement, those are your final numbers, and those are the numbers that you're seeking approval of today.  There's no changes to that since you filed this in August?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.  This August 21st update is the latest information --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So -- and then on pages 13 and 14 of that same exhibit -- and you went through this a little bit today -- is the distribution and the rate impacts and the monthly bill impacts.

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you said for a typical residential customer 14.8 percent distribution rate increase.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, that's the number I went through in examination-in-chief --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. MACDONALD:  -- this morning.

MS. GIRVAN:  And then in 2016 it's a 10 percent bill impact for residential customers at 800 kilowatt hours a month.

MR. MACDONALD:  Which table are we in?

MS. GIRVAN:  table 1.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.  So that's the total bill.


MS. GIRVAN:  And I'm assuming that includes the impacts with the elimination of the clean energy benefit, DRC, and the introduction of the OESP; is that correct?

MR. MACDONALD:  The first --


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, it does -- that is the bill impact which accounts for the first of those two things.  I don't believe until today there was an actual amount for the OESP --


MS. GIRVAN:  So there was no --


MR. BARRETT:  -- charge -- that's not --


MS. GIRVAN:  -- no placeholder in there?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  I don't believe so.

MS. GIRVAN:  Will that impact the 10 percent?  Not significantly?

MR. MACDONALD:  It would.  It will increase.

MR. BARRETT:  It will have a small increase -- I don't think it would be significant.  You'd be maybe talking maybe one decimal place.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.

MR. BARRETT:  I think.  That's a guess.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Now, you had a change in your RPP effective November 1st; is that correct?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, we did.

MS. GIRVAN:  So in fact, if I'm looking at this from a customer perspective, I'll be seeing in '16 a bigger increase than this 10 percent because of commodity charge in terms of what I'm going to see on my bill, not in terms of what the Board tells you to do in terms of analysis, but what I'm going to see on my bill.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yeah, you're right, Ms. Girvan, the Board asks in the bill impact schedules to keep the commodity constant, but you're correct, November 1st was an increase in RPP rates, so --


MS. GIRVAN:  So --


MR. MACDONALD:  -- the bill would be higher.

MS. GIRVAN:  Do you know to what extent that 10 percent would increase with that -- with that...

MR. MACDONALD:  No, I don't have that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Could you provide that?

MR. BARRETT:  I think I can answer that.  I think the RPP increase is about 3.4 percent, so if you add that on that would give you a pretty good idea of the typical residential impact.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So the monthly impact is going to be 13-something percent, you think?

MR. BARRETT:  About 13.4 percent.  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  So if we look at these impacts -- and we're going to go down to -- I'm just going to find the other thing.  If we turn to the next page, page 14, and in table 5 this sets out the monthly bill impacts for customers at different consumption levels.

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah.  So we see 17 percent, 13 percent, 12 percent, 10 percent, 11 percent, 10 percent.  Again, do you have any assessment as to what the RPP -- would I simply just add the 3.4 percent on top of that?

MR. BARRETT:  That's based on a typical customer at 800, so --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah.

MR. BARRETT:  -- I would think it would have lesser impact -- it's hard to say, because that's a percent of bill.  The bills would also be lower.  I would think it would have a slightly less impact on lower-consumption customers and slightly higher, but I haven't done that analysis.  I really can't say to be sure.  But my suspicion would be that it will have more impact -- a little less impact on the lower consumption, a little more impact on the higher consumption.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But overall we see in the lower -- this is natural in the lower consumption, and a little more impact on the higher consumption.

MS. GIRVAN:  But overall, we see in the lower –- and this is natural, in the lower consumption levels, the overall bill increases are going to be more significant, right?  Low volume users?

MR. BARRETT:  That often is the case, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Have you finalized at all how you're going to explain to your customers what's happening with their bills January 1, 2016?

I guess what I'm looking for is rate increases, the impact of the RPP November 1st, the movement to a fully fixed charge that's coming in 2017.  Have you developed those materials?

MR. MACDONALD:  We've developed materials for the OESP impact, the DRC impact, and the –- sorry for the acronyms –- the OCEB impact, so those three moving parts.

So removing the Ontario clean energy benefit alone increases bills 10 percent.  Customers get a benefit from the DRC coming off, and there is an additional charge for the new low income subsidy program.

So we've been working with our communications staff and we'll be putting that information on our website, on bills and bill inserts, that sort of thing, and newsletters.  So we are doing that communication.

MS. GIRVAN:  I guess the thing I'm concerned about is some of these lower volume customers are going to get significant increases –- and I would call them significant -- in January.  And I just wondered to what extent you're trying to get ahead of that, if you are at all.

MR. MACDONALD:  We are.  Those three –- well, the two, the 10 percent rebate coming off and the DRC coming off are not PowerStream issues.  But we do feel a duty to advise our customers of those changes, and we are taking those steps.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you've started that already?

MR. MACDONALD:  We started the discussions.  I don't think you could go to our website and see that information today.  That would be in December that you would probably see that.

We've had meetings to talk about the importance of letting our customers know about the changes, because despite them not coming from us, they are our customers, of course.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you are making efforts.  I'm just concerned that these people might get hit without knowing what's happening, and after the fact they get their bill and it's significantly greater.

MR. MACDONALD:  We are concerned as well, yes, and we've been taking steps.

MS. GIRVAN:   Thank you.  Just a quick question, and I just wanted to find out from you.  So has anything changed since this filing in August with your application interrogatories to indicate that you couldn't live with rebasing plus an IRM adjustment with an ICM or an ACM?  Has anything changed?

MR. MACDONALD:  No, not at all.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.  So I want to briefly go through your annual adjustment process, and what I would just really like to fully understand is sort of when you think you're going to be filing that, and the timing.

And what you might be able to do for me is maybe do this as an undertaking, in terms of you decided what you would file and when with respect to that process.

MR. MACDONALD:  We can do it that way.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, I think it might take some –- you know, you put some thought into it in terms of what you think you're going to file, what specifically is being adjusted and the various times, because we might want to comment on that.

MR. MACDONALD:  That's a good idea.  We'll do that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sort of when you file, what has to be determined, what's a flow-through, what kind of -- what process you're really proposing, because this is a custom plan.  So I don't think there is any definition in terms of what the Board expects with that.

So if you could get that on the record, that would be helpful.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, those are in our evidence, but we'll put them into an undertaking.

MS. GIRVAN:  With the timing, I think.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thanks very much.


MS. HELT:  Undertaking J1.8 then will be to provide the annual adjustment process that PowerStream intends to undertake with respect to what will be filed, what process will be followed, and the timing related to that process.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO PROVIDE THE ANNUAL ADJUSTMENT PROCESS THAT POWERSTREAM INTENDS TO UNDERTAKE WITH RESPECT TO WHAT WILL BE FILED, WHAT PROCESS WILL BE FOLLOWED, AND THE TIMING RELATED TO THAT PROCESS.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  And I just wanted to clear up something that was -- I think it was a little bit confusing.  I don't know if it was at the technical conference, or could have been –- well, through one of the interrogatories.  It's number 1A.SEC.4.

I want to be clear that with respect to Z factors, what you're proposing to be as a threshold, because I think we heard a couple different things in a couple different places, and I just want to confirm that today.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I believe the final amount we -- I think we estimated a material factor of about one million dollars.  I believe that was the most current reply when we were questioned on that.

I admit there was some inconsistency there, but that was our final answer.

MS. GIRVAN:  That's your current proposal is a million dollars.  And is it a one-time event?

MR. BARRETT:  I believe that we had indicated -- I don't think we had indicated that.  I hadn't --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you very much.

MR. BARRETT:  -- turned my mind to that.


MS. GIRVAN:  So I think you are familiar with the Horizon decision of the Board?

MR. MACDONALD:  Somewhat, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  We've had some discussion about this again, and I guess I'm wanting to get -- because we've been through this process for quite some time, and I sort of want to get your current view on the two items in that decision, an agreement which is the asymmetrical variance account and the earnings sharing mechanism, and whether or not PowerStream would be prepared to accept those two mechanisms in their custom plan.

MR. MACDONALD:  So I'll answer earning sharing mechanism first.  I would say that we did –- the RRFE does not explicitly say that, and we did not propose that in our evidence.  So no to that one.

MS. GIRVAN:  So it would be not something you would consider?

MR. MACDONALD:  No.

MS. GIRVAN:  And why not?

MR. MACDONALD:  It's just not required.

MS. GIRVAN:  But wouldn't it be something that would bring the benefits of any efficiencies to be shared with your customers?  Is that not a good thing?

MR. MACDONALD:  It may be a good thing, and it may be a matter for argument.

MS. GIRVAN:  All right, thank you.

MR. MACDONALD:  The other one, Ms. Girvan, was the asymmetric variance account.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, with respect to capital.

MR. MACDONALD:  So the RRFE does contemplate capital tracking broadly, and we are prepared to do that.  We hadn't contemplated any exact details of how that would work.

MS. GIRVAN:  When you say capital tracking.  What exactly do you mean?  Do you mean recording variances into an account and, to the extent that you under-spend in capital, that that amount would be returned to ratepayers?

MR. MACDONALD:   No, we didn't propose in our evidence a variance account.  We just –- on the RRFE I guess we would track actuals against forecast.

MS. GIRVAN:  But that's not something you would accept?

MR. MACDONALD:  We are not proposing that in our evidence, no.

MS. GIRVAN:  Again, wouldn't you think that would be good for ratepayers?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Again, that's probably more a matter for argument.

MS. GIRVAN:  All right.  I can't see why it wouldn't, but -- okay, let me move on.

Do we have anywhere in the evidence, and I'm not clear, your actual ROE that you earned in 2013, 2014 and -- I don't think that is.  Would you be willing to provide that?

MS. YOUNG:  Yes, I don't think that is in the evidence and yes, we'll provide that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J1.9, to provide the actual ROE earned for the years 2013 and 2014.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  TO PROVIDE THE ACTUAL ROE EARNED FOR THE YEARS 2013 AND 2014.

MR. BARRETT:  Can I just get some clarification?  So we're talking about the annual report, one that's available?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, just what is your -- relative to the Board-approved, what did you actually earn in --


MR. BARRETT:  The one that we submit as part of our triple R?

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure, thank you.  I understand that one of the big drivers –- well, some of the biggest drivers in terms of your costs going forward are the CIS, vegetation management, and monthly billing.

And I guess you've characterized particularly the CIS and the vegetation management as extraordinary.  And I am just struggling with that characterization.

MS. CLARK:  I can answer that one.  So we characterized it as extraordinary as they were, as I said in my examination-in-chief, incrementally significant in our OM&A as drivers.  So dollar-wise, they were the largest driver of our increases in OM&A.

MS. GIRVAN:  In terms of setting budgets and your sort of escalation, you've taken those out.  And then you've called sort of business as usual, and you've increased that?  That's the way you came to your budgets?

MS. CLARK:  Yes.  As we submitted in our evidence in section J, we have a cost driver that shows the extraordinary items excluded from the OM&A, so showing kind of business as usual versus the extraordinary items.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay thank you.  Just with respect to customer engagement, I'm familiar with the fact that you've undertaken a significant amount of customer engagement with respect to DSP, and I just wanted to find out if you undertook any other customer engagement with respect to your proposed rate increases and the elements of your plan.

MR. MACDONALD:  We've done other -- we do other engagement, like, for example, customer surveys and focus groups, but not centred on the plan, no.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And you haven't done that at all with respect to the fixed charge or the monthly billing because that's been mandated by the Board?

MR. MACDONALD:  We have not started a consultation for either of those.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

If you can please turn to -- it's Board Staff -- so it's 2, section 2, 1.Staff.8.  That's in section B, tab 2.  Sorry, there's -- as there's two references on each of these.  Yes.  Okay.  Specific outcomes.  Okay.  So I'm really interested here in understanding what are your -- the outcomes that you're delivering to your customers.  And I think what you've said is you're going to measure things with respect to the scorecard, but I'm not seeing specifically what you view as outcomes in terms of your rate plan for your customers.

MR. MACDONALD:  So Ms. Girvan, I answer that two ways, and it's similar to the top-down/bottom-up approach we talked about with budgeting, so the RRFE outcomes, the four outcomes are customer focus, operational effectiveness, public-policy responsiveness, and financial performance.

So we think what we put forward in this plan will enable us to do all of those things, all those areas, effectively.  Specifically, we're proposing to use the OEB scorecard with those four categories to track and measure our performance.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you're not proposing other metrics beyond the scorecard.

MR. MACDONALD:  No, because we -- I mean, various departments of -- in a company may have their own measures or things that they track, but the OEB scorecard allows that to be tracked consistently across all distributors and has gone through a lot of consultation, so it seems like a -- seems to be a very appropriate way to track those four outcomes.

MS. GIRVAN:  So do you have any ways that you're going to sort of demonstrate to the customers that this level of budget is bringing customers this level of value?

MR. MACDONALD:  Certainly, because the outcomes -- the measures for these outcomes on the scorecard are things like call-centre performance, billing accuracy, first contact resolution, reliability.  Those are just examples of things that are important to our customers.  They've told us they're important to them.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Just bear with me.  There's a bunch of things that have been covered off by SEC, so I just want to...

Okay.  So in -- if you turn to Exhibit F, tab 1, page 1, this is a section on productivity savings.  So again, Mr. Rubenstein touched on this a bit, but you've listed here a number of your sort of what I'd call programs that are going to deliver productivity, and that includes cable injection, in-house cable testing, pole reinforcement, the PI Enterprise software, and I guess the question I'm really looking at is, aren't these really simply programs that you're doing, that they don't represent incremental productivity through the plan?

MR. BARRETT:  We took the definition of productivity to mean enable us to do the things we need to do with less resources, and we found that these were examples, particularly cable -- underground cable replacement, the pole replacement.  They're allowing us to renew our assets at a fraction of the cost it would be if we used the older, more conventional methods.

MS. GIRVAN:  But that's really not productivity built into your plan; it's undertaking a program.

MR. BARRETT:  It's not just undertaking a program.  It's undertaking a program and doing it in a much more cost-effective way.

MS. GIRVAN:  Than --


MR. BARRETT:  I would have thought that demonstrates productivity.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But -- all right.  I'll leave that one to argument.

And again, with respect to your CIS, the implementation of the CIS, again -- actually, I won't touch on that.  I think Mr. Rubenstein covered that off.

So I have a few questions on the CIS, and I know this isn't the panel, but it's with respect to water billing.  So you had a projection in the last case of a CIS system that was about $35 million, and it's now 45.8 million?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And you do water-billing services for a couple of your shareholders; is that right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, we do water billing for Markham and Vaughan.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And from what I understand the historical billing revenues -- you're in about the $2.5 million range historically.

MR. MACDONALD:  From memory, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And you're slightly inflating those over the course of the term, but I just wondered to what extent you sought to increase the charges to those entities to recover the increased costs associated with your new CIS system.

MR. MACDONALD:  We did not.  We put in our new CIS system because our existing system was 30 years old and was well past due for replacement, and it was done for PowerStream.  We'll be able to still do the billing -- water billing for Markham and Vaughan, but there really was no cause and effect there.  This was done to upgrade our own CIS, our own billing system.

MS. GIRVAN:  So did you approach them at all about contributing to the increased costs related to your CIS system?

MR. MACDONALD:  We did not.

MS. GIRVAN:  Can you tell me why not?

MR. MACDONALD:  Just for the reason I said.  The system was to upgrade our very old legacy system, and it was done for PowerStream.

MS. GIRVAN:  But did they get enhancements to their billing services?

MR. MACDONALD:  They haven't, no.

MS. GIRVAN:  And why not?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, we put the water billing on the hydro bill for them, and that's -- there is no new information or nothing -- no extra features.  It's business as usual as far as they're concerned.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

And from what I understand, with your new CIS system you've got ongoing OM&A costs associated with that new billing system in the range of about $3 million a year, and that comes from CCC 15-2.  Do you see that chart?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, I'm there.

MS. GIRVAN:  Great, thanks.  It's actually -- yeah, so it's about -- I have a different chart.  Isn't it about 2.9 million, $3 million a year?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, about $3 million a year.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So have you looked at whether these costs are typical for sort of O&M for an ongoing utility CIS system?

MS. CLARK:  So the majority of that fee, that 2 million doll -- or $3 million relates to the maintenance agreement with CGI, our system integrator.  And when we implemented -- when we went to cost out our maintenance agreement, we did RFP that.  And they were the choice as a result of the RFP in relation to the maintenance portion.  So that was our way of ensuring that was the best price available. 

MS. GIRVAN:  So that was the best price available? 

MS. CLARK:  They were all around the same.  But the reason we chose CGI was to make a smoother transition from the actual CIS system to the maintenance, as they are the same provider. 

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Could you turn to -- and I think it was in Mr. Rubenstein's compendium.  It's appendix 2JC, the O&M program breakout. 

If I look –- I guess this is for you, Mr. Macdonald.  If I look at rates and regulatory affairs, I see a pretty steady budget both sort of all the way from '14 all the way across to 2020. 

I guess I thought sort of intuitively that given the fact you're only going to be having a minor sort of annual adjustment under your plan, that these costs will be less going forward.  If you can just help me understand that? 

MR. MACDONALD:  So those costs would be almost entirely for staff, and we don't expect to change the staff level over the course of the plan period. 

MS. GIRVAN:  Wouldn't the work be significantly less, relative to this process, preparing for this process? 

MR. MACDONALD:  That's a difficult one.  We won't be doing a custom IR application every year.  But there are annual updates and there's also a lot of things that come out of the Board that we deal with.  So we thought they were reasonable. 

MS. GIRVAN:  And where are the costs of this proceeding being recovered in 2015? 

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, they are being borne this year largely by the shareholder. 

MS. GIRVAN:  Wouldn't the cost this year be significantly more than the cost in the next few years? You're saying no? 

MR. BARRETT:  I looked at the schedule because it had been pointed out to us in earlier –- in the technical conference that we had not isolated the cost of this application and applied to have it recovered over 2016 to 2020. 

And that is correct.  We have not asked to recover those costs over the plan period.  I did a quick analysis of appendix 2M that was in the evidence, and I think the additional cost that we have in 2015 related to the application is somewhere in the neighbourhood of about $350,000.  That's what we budgeted, anyhow. 

And over, you know, normal ongoing costs, it's been put -- it's in our bridge year, 2015, and we have not proposed to do anything different with it. 

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Could you turn to the schedule, the employee schedule that has the FTEs?  It's in SEC's compendium at page 109, tab 1, schedule 1, section 3 –- yes, thank you. 

I'm just trying to understand the FTEs.  So what I heard earlier today was that in 2016, the 566 doesn't include –- approximately, is it six FTEs associated with monthly billing?

MS. CLARK:  That's right.  Sorry, what did you say for monthly billing? 

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MS. CLARK:  Twelve.

MS. GIRVAN:  So we take the 566 and we add 12, so --


MS. CLARK:  It would be actually starting in 2017.

MS. GIRVAN:  2017, okay.  So I'm just wondering -- we had in 2013, 550 FTEs, and now we are going to be close to 570.  I just wondered what the significant increase is related to.

MS. CLARK:  The most significant increase you see the FTEs jump in 2015.  That relates to a number of temporary staff that we included for our customer information system implementation project, to backfill the full-time staff that were working on that and seconded to that project. 

You'll see a jump in staff, and that decreases actually over '16 and '17, as the temporary staff are removed. 

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So I guess my earlier question was the 2013 actual is 533.

MS. CLARK:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  And the 2016 forecast is 566, and I'm just trying to understand the difference. 

MS. CLARK:  The majority of that does relate to temporary staff.   I think there were close to 20 temporary staff related to the customer information system.  So if we do quick math --


MS. GIRVAN:  But it doesn't seem to come down in '17, '18 and '19. 

MS. CLARK:  Then we do have –- in 2016 for temporary staff, it does go down for temporary workers related to the backfilling positions.  We also do have a number of new positions being added in '16 and '17. 

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, and that's related to storm hardening, is that right? 

MS. CLARK:  That's related to a variety of things, one being a new position in relation to storm hardening.  There are new apprentices we are hiring; the majority of that relates to new apprentices. 

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  I want to go back to something you were talking to Mr. Rubenstein before about, and this is SEC 9 and it's about the vacancies and the vacancy rate. 

And I think you were saying that what's embedded in the forecast going forward is 6.6 vacancy, right?


So if I take the average of 2012, '13 and '14, that's sort of 13.6.  And I wondered why that's not a more appropriate reflection of the vacancies you've had historically. 

MS. CLARK:  Well, 13.6 again, as I said this morning, that relates to a combination of capital and OM&A positions.  So if we talk about what we've included within our OM&A budget, there's 66 percent of people actually included in OM&A.

So if we take that average that you said around 13, times it by .66, it gets to around 8.5 FTEs on average.  And then that really is the driver for -- we looked at that and we feel we'll do a bit better than history, and that's why it's a little bit lower than eight, if I take it at a high level. 

MS. GIRVAN:  All right, thank you.  How many employees do you have that are involved with CDM to date? 

MS. CLARK:  I actually I don't know the exact number of how many employees are in CDM right now.

MS. GIRVAN:  Are those removed from these numbers?

MS. CLARK:  Yes, they do not include CDM.

MS. GIRVAN:  Are there any staff that do sort of both sides, in terms of working CDM and also working on other elements of the business? 

MR. MACDONALD:  So we have staff on CDM funded through the ISO programs.  We do have a service level agreement between PowerStream LDC and CDM, so that's a revenue offset. 

MS. GIRVAN:  Let's say you help them with something --


MR. MACDONALD:  I might help them with a filing or payroll services, you know, the typical corporate services.

MS. GIRVAN:  That's eliminated from the LDC revenue --


MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct. 

MS. GIRVAN:   Okay, great, thank you.  I just wanted to clarify that.  You noted earlier when you were talking about budgets -- and I don't know if you recall this, but you said that a risk for you going forward in terms of these budgets is regulatory risk, right, that -- regulatory requirements, like you had to do with the monthly billing and everything else, and that's a risk. 

But aren't those covered off through your Z factor proposal, so it's a not truly a risk? 

MR. MACDONALD:  It would depend on the extent of the risk.  Some events wouldn't trigger a Z factor.  In fact, many I think wouldn't. 

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you. 

MR. MACDONALD:  Thank you. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Helt, did you want to go today? 

MS. HELT:  I'm happy to go today, or if you prefer, Board Staff has -- I think there have been a few questions that have been covered by either Mr. Rubenstein or Ms. Girvan.  But it's probably close to an hour of questions. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we -- do you have a break in there somewhere that works for you?  Why don't we get started today?  I would like to not find ourselves at the end of the day on Monday behind. 

MS. HELT:  Certainly what I can do, Mr. Chair, is go through the questions relating more to the RRFE and consumer engagement, those types of questions, and then do the OM&A questions at the start of Monday.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Perfect.

MS. HELT:  All right then.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Perhaps to get started, Board Staff has prepared a compendium of documents, which I'll ask Mr. Davies to provide, and we can mark that as Exhibit K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF BOARD STAFF FOR POWERSTREAM PANEL 1.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt:


MS. HELT:  Good afternoon, witness panel.  The questions that I'll be focusing on right now relate to customer engagement.  Mr. Macdonald, were you --


MR. MACDONALD:  Sorry, I'm just waiting for the compendium.

MS. HELT:  Yes.  Certainly.

MR. MACDONALD:  I apologize.

MS. HELT:  Do the intervenors also have the compendium?  Yes?  Mr. Rubenstein needs one, Mr. Davies, thank you.

All right.  So if you could please turn up the -- page 1 of the compendium.  It references 2.Staff.32.  And in that interrogatory PowerStream was asked to explain how its distribution system plan reflects customer preferences identified through the customer engagement process.  And I would just like to follow up on a couple of issues that were raised by PowerStream's response to that interrogatory.

Specifically, if we go to line 11, the first line of the response, it states:

"PowerStream's experience with engaging customers on the development of the options for the distribution system plan was that significant time and effort was required to educate customers on the distributor's system and the electricity system in general.  Due to the high level of electricity literacy required for customers to be able to provide meaningful feedback on specific plans and projects proposed in the distribution system plan, customers frequently felt they did not know enough to be able to make conclusions regarding the operational and capital spending decisions made by the utility.  For example, it found that 58 percent of those consulted felt that PowerStream's investment plan was heading in the right direction, a further 35 percent were unsure or felt they did not have an information or knowledge of the electricity system or PowerStream to make a determination."

The first question I have is just with respect to where you say "the significant effort required to educate customers."

What sort of efforts have been put into or made by PowerStream to educate its customers with respect to its plan?

MR. MACDONALD:  So Ms. Helt, do you mean within this consultation process?

MS. HELT:  That's correct.

MR. MACDONALD:  Okay.  Maybe I'll discuss two areas.  I attended many of the customer focus groups, and the facilitator spent quite a bit of time talking about both the power delivery system -- it's confusing for customers, because they don't think about it day to day, how you have generation, transmission, distributors on down the chain to streets, to homes, to businesses.  They don't separate all those different parts of the system.

It's also time spent just talking about the hydro bill, the bill that PowerStream sends out, that covers all of those things.  So there was time spent explaining the parts of the bill, and the parts of the bill that PowerStream is responsible for, which is about 20 percent of the cost of the total bill.

MS. HELT:  And was it your conclusion after conducting those town halls and focus groups that there was a greater literacy amongst the consumers after they participated in those meetings?

MR. MACDONALD:  From what I saw I would say yes for some, not for others.  There's such a wide variety.  Some people had quite a bit of literacy, depending on what they did, maybe at work, for example.  Some people had pre-conceived ideas coming to the focus groups that nothing you would say on either of those subjects would change what they thought.  So there was a wide spectrum.  It was quite interesting to observe, actually.

MS. HELT:  And did PowerStream come away from those meetings learning how they might be better able to improve the literacy of its customers going forward?

MR. MACDONALD:  I would say yes, but even more broadly, how much work there is for everyone to do in that area.  This is just not -- you know, all our customer surveys show people want their bill to be kind of like the last one they got, and they want their lights on, so they don't think about all these complexities.  So there is a lot of work for all of to us do, I think, including PowerStream.

MS. HELT:  All right.  If we again look at that response starting at line 21, it discusses:

"PowerStream valued the input received from customers, as it confirmed the level of general support that the customers have for PowerStream's plans and approach to investment."

Then your response goes on to state:

"Given the level of acceptance Power received from a representative and statistically significant samples of its customers, the utility did not feel it necessary to deviate from its initial plan balance, reliability and costs, among our customers."

When you say "statistically significant sample of customers", what sort of sample did you take and how are you confident that it is representative?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, the focus group used the formulas that surveyors use to make sure you have enough of a sample, which, I don't have those figures.  I can get them.  And similarly, the workbook that was posted on the website, we got -- in terms of the percentage of people responding versus our customer population was a sound number.

MS. HELT:  All right.  That's fine.  Thank you.

Can you just explain to me why PowerStream didn't engage its customers before developing its distribution system plan?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, we didn't -- we have engaged our customers for many years in many different ways, but the Chapter 5 requirements for the DSP required this customer consultations, so those were done closely together, as we discussed this morning.  The plan was ready and was stakeholdered with customers, so it was put into about a year time frame.

MS. HELT:  But essentially it was once the plan was ready then the engagement with the customers commenced?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MS. HELT:  All right.  And is PowerStream planning on or envisioning engaging with its customers before developing its next plan?  Would you see any benefit to doing that?

MR. MACDONALD:  We would definitely like to do more of this type of stakeholdering.  I guess I would have to defer to capital -- the capital panel, but when the next DSP would be prepared -- but, yeah, we would be quite interested in talking to customers again.  Very much so.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  Thank you.

If you can now turn to page 3 of our compendium.  This relates to your capital expenditure planning process overview.  And if we go down to line 26 of the compendium, you talk about PowerStream's ongoing communication efforts to engage with customers when capital work is to be performed in the customers' area in order to alleviate shareholder concerns.

Can you just discuss how often you used this approach in terms of engaging with consumers where capital projects are to take place?

MR. MACDONALD:  Sure.  We have a customer connections group within customer service, and -- which we think is a good thing that it's in customer service.  So they talk to customers about capital work in all kind of ways through meetings at the job site, through letters and that type of thing, so there's a different engagement with customers around the work -- the capital work that we're doing.

MS. HELT:  And would PowerStream use this type of approach for capital projects impacting its entire service area, such as the new CIS system?

MR. MACDONALD:  That was a special project and we actually did some special consultation.  We talked to customers about their expectations.  We showed them -- even though the bill format is prescribed, we showed them different bills and charts and things.  So we got some very helpful feedback from that.

MS. HELT:  All right, thank you.  Turning to page 5 of the compendium -- I think we're on different pages.  Page 5 of the compendium, there is -- it has customer experience plan in the middle of the page.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  I'm trying to make sure we have the same page on the screen.  There we go, thank you.

PowerStream notes that as part of its commitment to continuous improvement, it drafted a customer experience plan and this is provided for in your evidence.  And with this plan, PowerStream involved extensive employee and stakeholder engagement.  And that's noted near the bottom of page 5 in your response.

And if we go over to page 6 of the compendium, PowerStream talks about prioritizing the customer experience, engaging with customers, and ensuring accountability are some of PowerStream's priorities coming out of the plan.  Near term priorities focus on driving cultural change while longer term priorities focus on developing the tools and insights to effectively deliver and ensure that customer experience is a corporate priority.

When you say cultural change, is that what you were talking about earlier with respect to cultural change within the organization?  Does it apply equally to consumers?

MR. MACDONALD:  It does, and in my dual role with customer service, I actually led this study.  And what we were trying to achieve here was the message that customer service is not just the customer service department.  It's just not the folks in the call centre on the phone.  Customer service is everyone in the company.  So it could be a crew responding to a customer concern; it could be someone in any department dealing with a customer, or developer of any nature.

So we really tried to align the organization around the customer, no matter what the employee's role was.  It was a very interesting project.

MS. HELT:  And can you just explain how the development of the customer experience plan has had, or is expected to have what sort of impact on PowerStream's customer engagement efforts?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, it's a -- it's almost an umbrella for all the other customer things we do, in terms of surveys; we do web surveys, we do transactional surveys. We call customers back a week after they talked to us to see how their experience was.  So it's an umbrella for all those things.

But really the message here is you want to bring that message and that culture beyond just the traditional customer service.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  If we can turn now to page 8 of the compendium, I'm at page customer engagement DS plan.  In the second paragraph starting at line 18, PowerStream notes that an engaged Innovative Research Group to assist in determining how to incorporate needs.  How did you choose innovative as the appropriate firm?

MR. MACDONALD:  We chose them because they had done at least one or two other engagements for distributors –- sorry?

MS. HELT:  Sorry, go ahead.  I don't mean to interrupt.

MR. MACDONALD:  And we wanted -- we didn't tender this work; we just engaged them.  We thought that we would, and we did get a company that could be up and running quickly and we wouldn't have to spend a lot of time explaining the things we have to explain to customers.  So that was our thinking.

MS. HELT:  And how far along was PowerStream in the preparation of its DSP when it -- at the time Innovative began its work?

MR. MACDONALD:  I'm going to have to -- I'm going to have to check.  I don't want to misspeak.

MS. HELT:  Can you give me an estimate?

MR. MACDONALD:  Oh, sure.

MS. HELT:  I don’t need the exact date, but was near the development –- the initial stains of the DSP, after the DSP had already been developed?

MR. MACDONALD:  I’d say -- I would describe the DSP was substantially complete.

MS. HELT:  Why wasn't Innovative hired earlier in the process then?

MR. MACDONALD:  Just the time schedule from deciding to do the application, to doing all these activities, to getting the application filed.  It was -- despite taking 2014-2015, it was a compressed time frame.

MS. HELT:  And do you think it might have made a difference had you retained Innovative earlier in the process, that it may have altered the development of your DSP?

MR. MACDONALD:   Yes, I do think so.

MS. HELT:  And how so?

MR. MACDONALD:  Given more time, we could have talked to customers more about the work we were doing.  Who knows?  Maybe we could have even shown them some projects in real life so they understand what we were doing.

Given the luxury of time, there could have been a lot more dialogue with customers.

MS. HELT:  And better customer understanding of the projects as well?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, I think this has been a learning experience for PowerStream, too, how much work needs to be done before we can have a meaningful discussion with customers.

MS. HELT:  Right, thank you.  Just a few more questions.  On page 10 of the compendium, we talk about -- or PowerStream talks about rate impacts about two-thirds of the way down the page.  And at line 23, PowerStream states:
"Proposed estimated bill impacts were presented for each rate class and major capital projects discussed to provide a background for PowerStream's proposed activities for 2016-2020."


When the estimated bill impacts were presented, were these just total bill impacts, or were there distribution bill impacts presented?

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't recall.

MS. HELT:  Would you be able to find out for me?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. HELT:  All right.  If I can have an undertaking then to advise when, in reference to page 10 of the Board Staff compendium, rate impacts and presentation of estimated bill impacts, to confirm whether they were just total bill impacts or if there were any distribution impacts -- bill impacts presented.

And that will be undertaking J1.10.  Could you also, in that same undertaking, just let me know if no distribution bill impacts were presented, why this was not done?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  And a third part of that undertaking then would be whether the estimated bill impacts were only presented by rate class, or were any bill impacts presented by major capital projects, or if any major capital projects were discussed or presented?

MR. MACDONALD:  Certainly.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.10:  (A) TO ADVISE WHEN, IN REFERENCE TO PAGE 10 OF THE BOARD STAFF COMPENDIUM, RATE IMPACTS AND PRESENTATION OF ESTIMATED BILL IMPACTS, TO CONFIRM WHETHER THEY WERE JUST TOTAL BILL IMPACTS OR IF THERE WERE ANY DISTRIBUTION BILL IMPACTS PRESENTED; (B) TO ADVISE, IF NO DISTRIBUTION BILL IMPACTS WERE PRESENTED, WHY THIS WAS NOT DONE

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Could PowerStream comment -- this was done with another utility in Festival, EB-2014-0073.  But it developed its DSP, or there was discussion of developing its DSP by providing customers with bill impact trade-offs for major capital projects, and asking customers whether or not they would be prepared to pay for the project in question.

Is this something PowerStream contemplated, or thinks would be a good idea to do in the future?

MR. MACDONALD:  I believe our online workbook did have some of those choices.  You know, how much more would you be willing to pay to get X, Y and Z, fewer outages per year, or less time out per year, those sorts of things.  There were some of those types of questions in the workbook.

MS. HELT:  All right.  So PowerStream then does see value in asking those types of questions?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  And then the last question relates to page 12 of Board Staff's compendium, and the discussion of the specific feedback you received concerning the implementation of the new CIS system.

At lines 11 and 12, you note that some questions were unable to see the added benefit of implementing a new system.  And then beginning at line 23, you state:
"There was a sense during the in-person focus group sessions that PowerStream had not made the business case for this major investment and that the perceived value of implementing this system was not shared across all customer classes.  PowerStream has strengthened its business case for this expenditure."

Now, earlier on when we were referring to 2.Staff.32, which is on page 1 of the compendium, you stated:

"Given the acceptance PowerStream received from a representative and statistically significant sample of its customers, the utility did not feel it necessary to deviate from its initial plan."

So can you just discuss why the feedback that's referred to on page 12 of the compendium wouldn't suggest a need to deviate from the initial plan?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, the time of this consultation we were pretty far along with our CIS system.  And this implementation of this system spanned several years, so I don't know what we really could have done differently in terms of our CIS implementation based on customer feedback.  We had a 30-year-old system that we desperately needed to replace, and that was well underway.

MS. HELT:  So essentially the system was so far along in the development of the actual system that you did solicit customer feedback, and although it wasn't positive, you were that far along, and it was necessary that you were committed to it.  Is that fair?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's fair, and it's also -- perhaps it's a bit harsh, but as managers of the utility there are some things that we know we have to do because we know the business, and customers may have differing views.  We can't do everything based on customer suggestions or feedback, although it is valuable in many, many areas.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Those are all of my questions with respect to customer engagement.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Ms. Helt.
Procedural Matters:

Mr. Davies, this morning did I see that you had two schedules out?  Like, is the schedule out for Monday?  And people have it?

MR. DAVIES:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  They do have it as well?

MR. DAVIES:  Schedule for today and schedule for Monday.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  Okay.  I just wanted to make sure everybody had it -- or if I had something special...

I just wanted to make sure that we weren't going to run out.  We've got -- because we're a little bit ahead of schedule we've got panel 2 coming in after the break Monday.

Mr. Rubenstein, you're going to be closing out the day but not completing your cross, is what we've got so far.

Are you comfortable that you'll have -- you're still looking at three hours, I believe.  What I'm getting at is should we put someone else on notice to come in after you or -- it'll probably -- even though we're a little bit ahead of schedule we'll likely not finish off the day and be looking for anyone else to follow you, I don't think.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I don't know if I'll be three hours, but if I'm less, I don't think it will be like, you know, an hour.  And I've had discussions with Ms. Helt and Staff as sort of --


MS. HELT:  Depending how the schedule plays out on Monday, if it's  if it's only going -- there's only an hour, an hour and a half, Staff is happy to go before Schools in order to finish off the day and have Schools start on the Thursday, depending on the timing.  I see you're going the opposite way, thinking we might be ahead of schedule --


MR. QUESNELLE:  And if we are ahead of schedule, would Staff also be able to follow you?  Could you follow Mr. Rubenstein if --


MS. HELT:  Certainly.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- there's time?  Okay.  That's all I want to know, establish that we had all the potential variables covered.

Great.  Okay.  Anything else?  Great.  Well, thank you very much, everyone, and everyone have a nice weekend.  We'll see you Monday.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:42 p.m.
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